
Spelthorne Borough Council, Council Offices, Knowle Green

Staines-upon-Thames TW18 1XB

www.spelthorne.gov.uk customer.services@spelthorne.gov.uk Telephone 01784 451499

222

l

Please reply to: 
Contact: Chris Curtis
Service: Committee Services
Direct line: 01784 446240
E-mail: c.curtis@spelthorne.gov.uk
Date: 28 January 2020

Notice of meeting

Planning Committee 

Date: Wednesday, 5 February 2020

Time: Call Over Meeting - 6.45 pm

The Call Over meeting will deal with administrative matters for the Planning Committee 
meeting. Please see guidance note on reverse

Committee meeting – Immediately upon the conclusion of the Call Over Meeting

Place: Council Chamber, Council Offices, Knowle Green, Staines-upon-Thames

To the members of the Planning Committee

Councillors:

R.A. Smith-Ainsley (Chairman)
A. Brar
S. Buttar
S.A. Dunn
N.J. Gething

M. Gibson
N. Islam
T. Lagden
J. McIlroy
L. E. Nichols

R.J. Noble (Vice-Chairman)
R.W. Sider BEM
V. Siva
B.B. Spoor
J. Vinson

Councillors are reminded that the Gifts and Hospitality Declaration book will be available 
outside the meeting room for you to record any gifts or hospitality offered to you since the 
last Committee meeting.

http://www.spelthorne.gov.uk/
mailto:customer.services@spelthorne.gov.uk


2

Call Over Meeting

Guidance Note 
The Council will organise a meeting immediately prior to the Planning Committee meeting  
(a “Call Over”) which will deal with the following administrative matters for the Committee: 

 Ward councillor speaking
 Public speakers
 Declarations of interests
 Late information
 Withdrawals
 Changes of condition 
 any other procedural issues which in the opinion of the Chairman ought to be dealt 

with in advance of the meeting.

The Call-Over will be organised by Officers who will be present. Unless there are 
exceptional circumstances, the meeting will be held in the same room planned for the 
Committee.  The Chairman of the Planning Committee will preside at the Call-Over. The 
Call-Over will take place in public and Officers will advise the public of the proceedings at 
the meeting.  Public speaking at the Call-Over either in answer to the Chairman’s 
questions or otherwise will be at the sole discretion of the Chairman and his ruling on all 
administrative matters for the Committee will be final.

Councillors should not seek to discuss the merits of a planning application or any other 
material aspect of an application during the Call-Over.

Planning Committee meeting

Start times of agenda items
It is impossible to predict the start and finish time of any particular item on the agenda. It 
may happen on occasion that the Chairman will use his discretion to re-arrange the 
running order of the agenda, depending on the level of public interest on an item or the 
amount of public speaking that may need to take place.  This may mean that someone 
arranging to arrive later in order to only hear an item towards the middle or the end of the 
agenda, may miss that item altogether because it has been "brought forward" by the 
Chairman, or because the preceding items have been dealt with more speedily than 
anticipated.  Therefore, if you are anxious to make certain that you hear any particular item 
being debated by the Planning Committee, it is recommended that you arrange to attend 
from the start of the meeting.  

Background Papers
For the purposes of the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985, the following 
documents are to be regarded as standard background papers in relation to all items:

 Letters of representation from third parties
 Consultation replies from outside bodies
 Letters or statements from or on behalf of the applicant



3

AGENDA

Page nos.

1.  Apologies
To receive any apologies for non-attendance.

2.  Minutes 5 - 8
To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 8 January 2020 (copy 
attached).

3.  Disclosures of Interest
To receive any disclosures of interest from councillors under the 
Councillors’ Code of Conduct, or contact with applicants/objectors under 
the Planning Code.

Planning Applications and other Development Control matters
To consider and determine the planning applications and other 
development control matters detailed in the reports listed below.

4.  Application No. 19/01297/FUL - Headline House, Stanwell Road, 
Ashford, TW15 3QH

9 - 42

Ward
Ashford Town

Proposal
Demolition of existing commercial building and the erection of a 4 storey 
building to provide 14 flats consisting of 7 no. 1 bed and 7 no. 2 beds 
with associated parking and amenity space.

Officer recommendation
To approve the planning application subject to conditions.

5.  Application No. 19/01676/FUL - The Fordbridge Centre, 91 
Clarendon Road, Ashford, TW15 2QA

43 - 54

Ward
Ashford Town

Proposal
Erection of a single storey front extension to the existing building and 
remodelling to the entrance lobby.

Officer recommendation
To approve the application subject to conditions.



4

6.  Development Management Performance 55 - 78
To note the Development Management Performance report for the past 
year.

7.  Urgent Items
To consider any items which the Chairman considers as urgent.



Minutes of the Planning Committee
8 January 2020

Present:
Councillor R.A. Smith-Ainsley (Chairman)

Councillors:

A. Brar
S. Buttar
N.J. Gething
M. Gibson

N. Islam
T. Lagden
J. McIlroy
L. E. Nichols

R.J. Noble
V. Siva
B.B. Spoor
J. Vinson

Apologies: Apologies were received from Councillor S.A. Dunn and 
Councillor R.W. Sider BEM

In Attendance:
Councillors who are not members of the Committee, but attended the meeting 
are set out below:

Councillor C. Bateson

1/20  Election of Vice-Chairman 

It was proposed by Councillor R.A. Smith-Ainsley and seconded by Councillor 
M. Gibson and 
Resolved that Councillor R.J. Noble be appointed Vice Chairman of the 
Planning Committee for the remainder of the municipal year 2019/20.

2/20  Minutes 

The minutes of the meeting held on 11 December 2019 were approved as a 
correct record.

3/20  Disclosures of Interest 

a) Disclosures of interest under the Members’ Code of Conduct
Councillor N.J. Gething declared that he had previously worked for a law firm 
that acted for Drake Avenue Management Company in relation to the 
unadopted road providing access to the industrial estate and so had prior 
knowledge of the site.  He had discussed his position with the solicitor for the 
Planning Committee and Monitoring Officer and been advised that he may 
speak and vote on that particular item.

Page 5

Agenda Item 2



Planning Committee, 8 January 2020 - continued

b) Declarations of interest under the Council’s Planning Code
There were none.

4/20  Application No. 19/01070/FUL - Drake House, Drake Avenue, 
Staines-upon-Thames, TW18 2AW 

Councillor A. Brar arrived late and did not participate in the debate or vote on 
this item.

Description:
Demolition of existing building and erection of an apartment block comprising 
14 no. flats over three floors of accommodation with associated access from 
Gresham Road, car parking, landscaping and amenity space. Provision of 2 
no. parking spaces for adjacent Gradus premises.

Additional Information:
The Planning Officer informed the Committee that no objection had been 
received from Environmental Health on air quality grounds.

Public Speaking: 
In accordance with the Council’s procedure for speaking at meetings, Nicola 
Rickett spoke against the proposed development raising the following key 
points:

 Concern over the adverse impact on existing units in Drake Avenue
 Refuse concerns
 Loss of industrial units
 Lack of alternative industrial units
 Fire safety concerns

In accordance with the Council’s procedure for speaking at meetings, Graham 
Sturdy spoke for the proposed development raising the following key points:

 The application was submitted following pre-application discussions
 It is located within the urban area
 It is located within a residential area
 It is not in a designated employment zone
 The current units are poorly located
 There are 42 mixed use commercial properties available locally
 Proposed conditions are fair and appropriate

Debate:
During the debate the following key issues were raised:

 Nice looking scheme
 Will replace old buildings
 There is pressure from Central Government for additional housing to be 

provided

Page 6



Planning Committee, 8 January 2020 - continued

 Concerns over impact on commercial refuse collection for existing units
 Concern over location of proposed refuse bins
 Access concerns
 Query over pedestrian access
 Query over affordable housing
 Query over adequacy of the number of parking spaces
 Query over the distance to the nearest bus stop in Kingston Road
 Informative should be added asking the applicants to consider providing 

cabling to all parking spaces to allow for electric charging points in the 
future

 Concern over noise from the existing Industrial units for new residents
 Concern over construction traffic blocking Gresham Road causing 

disruption to residents 
 Concern over Drake Avenue being blocked
 Query over whether the Crime by Design has been resolved

Decision:
The application was approved as per the agenda subject to the following 
additional informative:

The applicant is advised to give consideration to providing cable to all parking 
spaces to allow for additional electric charging points in the future.

5/20  Planning Appeals Report 

The Chairman informed the Committee that if any Member had any detailed 
queries regarding the report on Appeals lodged and decisions received since 
the last meeting, they should contact the Planning Development Manager. 

Resolved that the report of the Planning Development Manager be received 
and noted.

6/20  Urgent Items 

There were none.

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



6
9

2
15

4

7

8

3

LB

St Hild
a's Ch

urch

10

47

12

St Hilda's

114a

Works

12
3

ED B
dy

House

Headline House

14.9m

14.6m

17
.1
m

Virginia Court

Fre
de
ric
k

1 to 28

S
TA

N
W
E
LL
 R
O
A
D

CHAUCER ROAD

WOLSEY ROAD

11c

11
4c

5c

Maplewood Court

11
6

11
2

11
5

11b

53c

19c

45
c

10
5

10
2

35

52

5a

34 39

50

21

15

48

19

24

26

57

13
7

10
6

13

20

41

66

61

46
a

62

5d

28

10
0

67a

55
a

10
8

49

55

37

58

56

10
4

51

45

76

53

65a

15a

12
6

13
0

48
a

12
0

44

63

14

13
1

60

67

40

69

75

31

65

5b

6 t
o 9

The Retreat

1 t
o 5

14.6m

5

24

45

1
9

1

1

6

3

13

7

7

39

2

26

2

5

15

2

48

67a

© Crown copyright and database rights 2019 Ordnance Survey 100024284. ¯Scale: 1:1,250

19/01297//FUL – Headline House

Page 9

Agenda Item 4



This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

Planning Committee 

 5 February 2020 

 
 

Application No. 19/01297/FUL 

Site Address Headline House, Stanwell Road, Ashford, TW15 3QH 

Applicant Mr Mike Daly 

Proposal Erection of a 4 storey building to provide 14 flats consisting of 7 no. 1 
bed and 7 no. 2 bed with associated parking and amenity space 
following demolition of existing commercial building. 

Ward Ashford Town 

Call in details N/A 

Officer Kelly Walker 

 

Application Dates 
Valid: 25/09/2019 Expiry: 25/12/2019 

Target: Extension of 
time agreed. 

Executive Summary The proposal involves the demolition of the existing building on site and 
the construction of 14 flats in a single building which although has 
accommodation over four floors but with the second floor 
accommodation being located within the roof space and a semi-
basement, partly below ground level. The building would have a 
staggered frontage onto Stanwell Road and would ‘turn the corner’ into 
Chaucer Road. The flats would be served by a car park to the rear and 
also in the basement area accessed from Chaucer Road and also a 
communal garden area. The proposal is similar to the previously 
approved scheme for 10 no. flats approved in 2017 (17/00782/FUL) 
although it is 1.2m taller in total height due to the provision of the sub- 
basement. The principle of demolishing the existing commercial building 
and creating a new block of residential flats continues to be acceptable.  
 
It is considered that the proposal will make a positive impact on the 
character of the area and pay due regard to its surroundings. The design 
and appearance would have an acceptable impact on the character of 
the area and would not harm the setting of St Hilda’s church which is a 
Grade II listed building, located opposite the application site. It would be 
an efficient use of land providing a good standard of housing in terms of 
internal space, outlook and amenity space in the form of terraces, 
balconies and communal garden. The proposal would have an 
acceptable relationship with neighbouring properties and would have an 
appropriate impact on their amenities. The proposal would provide 18 off 
street car parking spaces.  

The scheme is acceptable in regards to flooding, highway issues, 

Page 11



 
 

parking provision, housing, and renewable energy. The NPPF requires 
permission for housing to be granted unless the impacts of doing so 
would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits when 
assessed against the NPPF as a whole. There will be benefits of 
providing new housing which carries significant weight and there is no 
harm that would demonstrably outweigh the benefits of the scheme.  

Therefore the proposal is considered to conform to Policies of the Core 
Strategy and Policies DPD and the NPPF and is recommended for 
approval. 

Recommended 
Decision 

This planning application is recommended for approval subject to 
conditions. 

 

 

MAIN REPORT 

 

1. Development Plan 
 

1.1 The following policies in the Council’s Core Strategy and Policies DPD 2009 
are considered relevant to this proposal: 
 

- SP1 (Location of Development) 

- LO1 (Flooding) 

- SP2 (Housing Provision) 

- HO1 (Providing for New Housing Development) 

- HO4 (Housing Size and Type) 

- HO5 (Housing Density) 

- CO2 (Provision of Infrastructure for New Development) 

- SP6 (Maintaining and Improving the Environment) 

- EN1 (Design of New Development) 

- EN3 (Air Quality) 

- EN8 (Protecting and Improving the Landscape and Biodiversity) 

- EN15 (Development on Land Affected by Contamination) 

- SP7 (Climate Change and Transport) 

- CC1 (Renewable Energy, Energy Conservation and Sustainable 
Construction) 

- CC2 (Sustainable Travel) 

- CC3 (Parking Provision) 

 
1.2 Also relevant are the following Supplementary Planning 

Documents/Guidance: 
 

Page 12



 
 

- SPD on Design of Residential Extensions and New Residential 
Development 
 

- SPG on Parking Standards 
 
1.3 The advice contained within the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 

2019 is also relevant. 
 
 
2. Relevant Planning History 

 
2.1 The current structure on site was constructed in the late 1980s and prior to 

that the site was used as a workshop/garage. In 2015 an application to 
redevelop the site for residential use was refused on design and layout 
grounds. Three applications for residential development on the site have since 
been granted planning permission. The most recent, 17/00782/FUL, was 
approved in August 2017 for 10 units and is therefore a material planning 
consideration. The relevant applications are listed below: 

 
17/00782/FUL Erection of a two storey building with second        Grant 

floor accommodation to provide 5 no. one   Conditional 
bedroom flats and 5 no. two bedroom flats    22.09.2017 
with associated parking and amenity space 
following demolition of the existing 
commercial building on site. 

 
17/00099/FUL  Erection of a two storey building with second        Grant 

floor accommodation to provide 2 no. one   Conditional 
bedroom flats and 7 no. two bedroom flats    13.03.2017 
with associated parking and amenity space 
following demolition of the existing 
commercial building on site. 
 

15/01513/FUL  Erection of two storey building to provide 1        Grant 
no. one bed flat, 6 no. two bed flats and 1 no.    Conditional 
three bed flat with associated parking and    18.01.2016 

 amenity space following demolition of the 
existing commercial building on site. 

 
14/01836/FUL  Erection of 2 no. two storey blocks containing       Refused 

a total of 4 no. one bed flats and 4 no. two           20.05.2015 
bed flats (2 no. one bed and 2 no. two bed in 
each block) with associated parking and 
amenity space following demolition of 
existing industrial unit on site. 

 
SPW/FUL/87/5  Conversion of existing garage building to     Grant 

provide 422.4 sq m (4,547 sq ft) of office   Conditional 
accommodation (involving the provision of a   11.03.1987 
mezzanine floor in part), elevation 
alterations, alterations to Chaucer Road 
vehicular access and provision of 16 car 

Page 13



 
 

parking spaces. 
  

3. Site Description 
 

3.1 The application site comprises a broadly rectangular plot of land located on 
the eastern side of Stanwell Road, on the junction with Chaucer Road. The 
site is presently occupied by a single storey commercial building with a 
mezzanine floor. The current structure covers the majority of the site with a 
small grass area on the Stanwell Road frontage and some off street parking-
accessed from Chaucer Road. The area is characterised by two storey 
residential dwellings, with a mix of both detached and semi-detached. There 
are also some commercial uses and flats located along Stanwell Road. 
Directly opposite the site to the west lies St Hilda’s Church which is a Grade II 
Listed building. This church was completed in 1928 and is a prominent 
landmark in the area with the use of distinctive red brick. The site is located 
within the urban area. 
 
Background 

 
3.2  As noted above, there is currently a valid planning permission on the 

application site (17/01782/FUL) for the erection of a two storey building with 
second floor accommodation to provide 5 no. one bedroom flats and 5 no. two 
bedroom flats with associated parking and amenity space following demolition 
of the existing commercial building on site. This is a material planning 
consideration. The current proposal is an increase to this scheme with a semi 
basement (partly below ground level) and therefore the raising of the height of 
the proposed building and the provision of 14 flats in total rather than 10 as 
before. The current scheme is described and assessed below and includes 
comparisons to the approved scheme which is a material planning 
consideration 

 
 Description of Current Proposal 
 

3.3 The proposal would involve the demolition of the existing building (which has 
a footprint of approximately 585 sq m) on site and the erection of a two storey 
building with habitable accommodation within the roof space and in addition to 
the previously approved scheme, a semi-basement containing one flat and the 
car park. The building would have a broadly L-shaped footprint and is 
proposed to be built of buff and red brick. And plain roof tiles on the roof. It will 
have a width of 21.9m along Stanwell Road (as with the previously approved 
scheme) and 19.1m along Chaucer Road (compared to 17.1m previously 
agreed). The building will continue to have a pitched roof with a central flat 
roof section and gable ends in the east, west and south elevations. The 
building will be taller than that previously approved due to the inclusion of a 
semi-basement partly sunk into the ground. The scheme will have a maximum 
height to the main roof and ridge height of the gables on the main roof of 
10.1m compared to the previous scheme which had a maximum height of 
8.9m (1.2m taller than the previous scheme). The height of the eaves will be 
some 7.1m whereas the previous scheme had a height of 5.9m to the eaves, 
also 1.2m taller. The side/rear element of the proposed built form fronting 
Chaucer Road is at a lower level to the main roof form and continues to have 

Page 14



 
 

a similar overall height ridge and eaves height to that previously approved and 
continues to be 2 storey development.  
 

3.4 The proposed building would comprise 7 no. 1 bed and 7 no. 2 bed units over 
4 floors of accommodation. The main access to the building would be from 
Chaucer Road, in the same position as the previous application, and there 
would be a rear entrance in the east elevation with access from the parking 
and amenity area. There will also be access to the flat in the sub-basement 
from Stanwell Road. 

 
3.5  The building would be served by a semi basement car parking area beneath 

the building, containing 8 spaces and also a car park at the rear of the building 
with 10 spaces making a total of 18 spaces. It will include two disabled bays 
which will have access from Chaucer Road. A communal amenity area, 
comprising approx. 145 sq m, would also be located to the rear of the building 
and the front and sides of the site would be landscaped. An existing tree on 
the side of the Stanwell Road frontage would be retained. The building would 
incorporate a bin store and an integral cycle store with space for 14 cycles. 

 
3.6 The proposed site layout and elevation plans are provided as an Appendix.  

  

4     Consultations 
 

4.1 The following table shows those bodies consulted and their response. 
 

Consultee Comment 

County Highway Authority No objection. Recommends conditions 

Environment Agency No objection. Recommends conditions 

Group Head of 
Neighbourhood Services 
(refuse) 

No objection 

Sustainability Officer No objection 

Lead Local Flood 
Authority (Surrey County 
Council) 

No objection. Recommends conditions. 

Tree Officer No objection. Recommends condition. 

Thames Water 
No objection with regard to sewage 
infrastructure.  

Environment Agency No objection. Recommends conditions. 

Environmental Health 
(Contaminated land) 

No objection. Recommends conditions. 

Environmental Health  

(Air Quality) 
No objection. Recommends conditions. 

Listed Buildings and 
Conservation Advisor 

No objection 

Page 15



 
 

Archaeological Officer No objection 

 

 
5.  Public Consultation 
 
5.1 A total of 58 neighbouring properties were notified of the planning application.  

In addition, statutory site notices were displayed and the application was 
advertised in the local press. Letters have been received from 55 properties 
objecting to the proposal, including comments from St Hilda’s Church and also 
SCAN. 
 

5.2 Reasons for objecting include:- 
 
- Out of character – height, materials and design 
- Density 
- Impact on listed church - St Hilda’s 
- Lack of parking on site causing traffic and congestion 
- Adequacy of parking and turning areas 
- Impact on landscaping 
- Overbearing 
- Overshadowing – loss of light 
- Impact on air quality 
- Impact on local business and customer parking 
- Overdevelopment 
- Noise 
- Overlooking 
- Lots of development already going on in Ashford 
- Access by disabled people 
--Living boundary wall should be retained. 
- Previous applications, getting progressively larger and for more flats 
- Pressure on infrastructure including schools doctor, public transport roads 
- Sewage and other utilities cannot cope  
- Allowing a basement could create flooding 
- This part of Ashford should be a conservation Area 
- The Government housing figures should not be used as the Council agree 
they are unrealistic 
- Many businesses objected to the scheme but these have not been noted 
 
Other issues raised which are not planning issues include:- 
 
- Property prices 
- Noise and disturbance during construction 
- Construction of the basement could impact on the structural integrity of 
buildings adjoining the site including the Listed Church. 
-The developer does not live in the UK and wants to maximise profit. 
-The developer has not been able to build previous permissions due to access 
issue 
- Flats unlikely to be owner occupied 
- Fly tipping 
- There should be resident parking permits in operation 
 

Page 16



 
 

6. Planning Issues 
  
-  Need for Housing 

- - Principle of the development 
-  Housing density 
-  Design and appearance. 
-  Residential amenity 
- Highway issues and parking provision 
-  Flooding 
-  Renewable energy 
-  Dwelling mix 
-  Impact on trees 
-  Contaminated Land 
- Air quality 

 
7. Planning Considerations 

Need for housing 
7.1 When considering planning applications for housing, local planning authorities 

should have regard to the government’s requirement that they boost 
significantly the supply of housing, and meet the full objectively assessed 
need for market and affordable housing in their housing area so far as is 
consistent policies set out in the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
2019. 

 
7.2 The Council has embarked on a review of its Local Plan and accepts that the 

housing target in its Core Strategy and Policies DPD-Feb 2009 of 166 
dwellings per annum is significantly short of its latest objectively assessed 
need of 552-757 dwellings per annum (Para 10.42 – Strategic Housing Market 
Assessment (SHMA) – Runnymede and Spelthorne – Nov 2015).  On 20th 
February 2019, the government updated its guidance in respect of Housing 
and Economic needs assessment which included proposals for a standard 
method for calculating local authorities’ housing need.  A figure of 590 
dwellings per annum for Spelthorne was proposed by the application of this 
new approach.  This figure of 590 based on the 2014 household formation 
projections has also been suggested by the Government in its latest 
consultation (Oct – Dec 2018).  Following recent analysis, the figure has been 
revised to 603.  Despite recent uncertainties, the standard methodology 
provides the most recent calculation of local housing need in the Borough and 
is consistent with the range of need identified by the Council in their SHMA.  It 
is therefore appropriate for the Council to use the 603 dwellings per annum 
figure as their local housing need figure that comprises the basis for 
calculating the five-year supply of deliverable sites.  

 
7.3 The sites identified in the Strategic Land Availability Assessment (SLAA) as 

being deliverable within the first five years have been used as the basis for a 
revised 5-year housing land supply figure.  Whilst this has shown that 
notionally we have identified sufficient sites to demonstrate that we have a 
five year supply of housing sites we have recently been advised that we need 
to apply an additional 20% buffer rather than the previously used 5%.  This is 
because Government guidance (NPPF para 74) requires the application of a 
20% buffer “where there has been significant under delivery of housing over 
the previous three years”.  It therefore has no choice now but to apply the 

Page 17



 
 

additional buffer for the five year period from 1 April 2019 to 31 March 2024.  
A 20% buffer applied to 603 results in a figure of 724 dwellings per annum 
which is our current figures. The effect of this increased requirement is that 
the identified sites only represent a 4.4 year supply and accordingly the 
Council cannot at present demonstrate a five year supply of deliverable 
housing sites.   

 
7.4 In using the new objectively assessed need figure of 724 as the starting point 

for the calculation of a five year supply it must be borne in mind that this does 
not represent a target as it is based on unconstrained need.  Through the 
Local Plan review, the Borough’s housing supply will be assessed in light of 
the Borough’s constraints, which will be used to consider options for meeting 
need.  The Council has now published its SLAA which identifies potential sites 
for future housing development over the plan period.  

 
7.5 As a result, current decisions on planning applications for housing 

development need to be based on the ‘tilted balance’ approach set out in 
paragraph 11 of the NPPF (2019). This requires that planning permission 
should be granted unless ‘any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly 
and demonstrably outweigh the benefits when assessed against the policies 
in this Framework taken as a whole’.  

 
7.6 It should also be noted that The Housing Delivery Test Result for Spelthorne 

Borough Council was published by the Secretary of State in February 2019, 
with a score of 63 percent. This means that the Council had undelivered 
housing delivery verses need in previous years and as a result the Council 
have produced a Housing Delivery Test Action Plan to positively respond to 
the challenge of increasing its housing delivery. The Action Plan analyses and 
sets out actions to improve housing delivery within the Borough. 

 
Principle of the development 

7.7 As noted above, Policy HO1 of the Local Plan is concerned with new housing 
development in the Borough. HO1 (c) encourages housing development on all 
sustainable sites, taking into account policy objectives and HO1 (g) states that 
this should be done by: 

“Ensuring effective use is made of urban land for housing by applying 
Policy HO5 on density of development and opposing proposals that would 
impede development of suitable sites for housing.” 

 
7.8 This is also reflected in the NPPF paragraph 117 which emphasises the need 

for the effective use of land in meeting the need for homes, whilst 
safeguarding the environment and provides further relevant context at 
paragraph 122 in respect of achieving appropriate densities.  

 
7.9 The site is located within the urban area and is a brownfield site within an 

accessible location close to local facilities and public transport links. It is not 
located within the Green Belt or a within a high flood risk area. The area is 
characterised by mainly residential properties and a residential use has 
already been approved on the site. As such the use of the site as flats is an 
acceptable use of the site in principle, provided other policies requirements 
are met including flooding, as discussed further below. 

Page 18



 
 

 Housing density 
7.10 Policy HO5 in the Core Strategy Policies DPD 2009 (CS & P DPD) sets out 

density ranges for particular context but prefaces this at paragraph 6:25 by 
stating: 

 
“Making efficient use of potential housing land is an important aspect in 
ensuring housing delivery. Higher densities mean more units can be 
provided on housing land but a balance needs to be struck to ensure the 
character of areas is not damaged by over-development.” 

 
7.11 Policy HO5(b) states that within existing residential areas that are 

characterised by predominately family houses rather than flats new 
development should generally be in the range of 35 to 55 dwellings per 
hectare.  It is noted that there are a number of flats nearby to the application 
site. 

 
7.12 The proposal is for 14 units and is on a site of some 0.094 ha, equating to 148 

dwellings per hectare (dph). The proposed density is well above the 
recommended 35-55 dph range stipulated in Policy HO5. The high density is a 
result of the proposed units being 1 and 2 bed flats with shared amenity space 
(compared for example to larger dwellings with private gardens). The policy 
states that, ‘Higher density developments may be acceptable where it is 
demonstrated that the development complies with Policy EN1 on design 
particularly in terms of its compatibility with the character of the area and is in 
a location that is accessible by non car based modes of travel.’  
The development complies with Policy EN1 (as explained below) and is also 
in a location accessible by non-car based travel, given that Ashford railway 
station is situated only 400m from the development (approx. 5 minutes away 
on foot).The nearest bus stops are approx. 110m (approx. 2 minutes on foot) 
on Woodthorpe Road. Therefore although high, e density is considered to be 
acceptable.in this location and complies with policy HO5, 
 

 Design and appearance 
7.13 The NPPF at paras. 124 – 132, emphasise the requirement of achieving well-

designed places. It notes that, ‘The creation of high quality buildings and 
places is fundamental to what the planning and development process should 
achieve. Good design is a key aspect of sustainable development, creates 
better places in which to live and work and helps make development 
acceptable to communities.’ 

 
7.14 Policy EN1a of the CS & P DPD states that “…the Council will require a high 

standard in the design and layout of new development. Proposals for new 
development should demonstrate that they will: create buildings and places 
that are attractive with their own distinct identity; they should respect and 
make a positive contribution to the street scene and the character of the area 
in which they are situated, paying due regard to the scale, height, proportions, 
building lines, layout, materials and other characteristics of adjoining buildings 
and land.” In addition, the Council’s “Design of Residential Extensions and 
New Residential Development” SPD, 2011 provides guidance on deign and 
states that the design of new development and the materials used should 
reflect the character of the area.  It advises further that “good detailed design 

Page 19



 
 

and use of materials is critical to an acceptable scheme…… [and] poor design 
with little or no attention to detail will be unacceptable”.   

 
7.15 The building has been designed to address both the Stanwell Road and 

Chaucer Road frontages, as was the case with the previous scheme for 10 
units. The approved scheme has been amended in order to provide an 
additional floor at semi-basement level which is partly sunk beneath ground 
level. This level contains a car park for 8 cars and one no. 2 bed flat. The 
ground floor will contain 4 flats and the cycle and bin storage areas as well as 
the access to the underground car park. The first floor has another 5 flats and 
the second floor, which continues to be contained within the roof space, 
contains 4 more flats. The proposal has a similar footprint to the previously 
approved scheme at ground level, however it is deeper in part (approx. 2m in 
two places and in addition has a 2 storey element projecting some 5m from 
the main built form with some 5m in width. As before, the Stanwell Road 
frontage would include staggered gable ends with glass terraces and 
balconies at ground and first floor level. The gables would be staggered in 
such a way that on the corner of Stanwell Road and Chaucer Road the gable 
would be set back from the junction and would allow the building to ‘turn the 
corner’ into Chaucer Road. The Chaucer Road frontage would again feature a 
gable end to help link the whole building together. The overall design, form 
and choice of materials would give the building a contemporary feel, albeit 
with a pitched roof and strong gable features. The use of red and buff bricks 
and plain roof tiles will help the building to integrate to the surrounding area, 
paying due regard to the materials of neighbouring properties, including the 
red brick of the church and the buff brick evident in some of the neighbouring 
dwellings. The building would have an area of flat roof, but this would be 
mostly obscured by the pitched roofs and it is not considered it this would be 
evident in the street scene. 

 
7.16 The proposed building would have a smaller footprint than the existing 

building. The existing building has a shallow pitched roof with a maximum 
height of 7.31m. The main part of the proposed building will be 1.2m taller 
than the previously approved scheme, with a maximum height of 10.1m, 
(opposed to the previous scheme with a max height of 8.9m.) The height of 
the eaves of the main roof will be some 7.1m (opposed to the previous 5.9m). 
The gable element on Chaucer Road and rear projection element will be at a 
lower level to the main roof form fronting Stanwell Road and will continue to 
have a very similar height, to that previous approved. Whilst the current 
scheme is clearly higher than the previous one and also the existing building 
on site, due to the significantly reduced footprint, it is considered the increase 
in height would not have an unacceptable impact on the street scene. As 
noted above, the current proposal has an increase in height compared to the 
previously approved scheme of the main roof form by 1.2m to the ridge and 
eaves height. However the height of the proposed building would not appear 
out of context within both the Stanwell Road and Chaucer Road frontages and 
would not ‘compete’ with the adjacent church in terms of scale. It is 
considered the scale of the building when viewed in relation to the whole site 
and its parking, amenity and landscaped areas would be acceptable, in 
particular given the site is on a corner location where it is partly viewed in its 
own context forming a visual turn to the built form at this junction of the 2 
roads. 

Page 20



 
 

 
7.17  The proposal would continue to respect the building line within both Stanwell 

Road and Chaucer Road. The element closest to no. 104 Stanwell Road (the 
adjacent detached dwelling to the north), would be generally in line with the 
frontage of that property before stepping out slightly to the first of three 
staggered gable frontages, with the subsequent gables stepping back as the 
building gets closer to Chaucer Road. This is the same as the previously 
approved scheme. However the corner gable closest to Chaucer Road, will be 
closer to Stanwell Road by approx. 0.3m when compared to the previous 
approved scheme, but would continue to be set behind the front elevation of 
106 Stanwell Road on the opposite corner. The gable feature on Chaucer 
Road would be slightly forward of the prevailing building line (as approved 
previously) but the majority of this frontage would be broadly in line with the 
existing properties on the northern side of the street. 

 
7.18  It is therefore considered that the proposal would be of a layout and form that 

would respect the character of the area and that would successfully address 
the prominent corner plot, despite the main built form on the Stanwell Road 
frontage being taller in height than the previously approved scheme and taller 
than the adjoining dwellings. The proposal has a contemporary design but 
also utilises design features of properties nearby as required by Policy EN1 
including gable features, pitched roofs and staggered frontages of buildings. 
Therefore the proposal is considered to be an acceptable form of 
development which would not be harmful to the character of the area and will 
have its own identity on a comer plot within the context of a wider residential 
area. It should also be noted that blocks of flats are not unusual in the area 
including 2 no. 3 storey blocks of flats located to the south further along 
Stanwell Road at No..123 Stanwell Road and Sovereign House, which are 
adjacent to 2 storey houses As such, the scheme is considered to be 
acceptable and accords with Policy EN1 and the NPPF on design. 
 

7.19 The Government has also recently introduced a new National Design 
Guidance in October 2019 which seeks to address the question of how we 
recognise well-designed places, by outlining and illustrating the Government’s 
priorities for well-designed places in the form of ten characteristics.  

 
The National Design Guide 2019 also notes that, ‘…well-designed places 
contribute to local distinctiveness. This may include:- 
 

 adopting typical building forms, features, materials and details of an 
area; 

 drawing upon the architectural precedents that are prevalent in the 
local area, including the proportions of buildings and their openings;  

 using local building, landscape or topographical features, materials or 
planting types; 

 introducing built form and appearance that adds new character and 
difference to places; (Officer emphasis) 

 creating a positive and coherent identity that residents and local 
communities can identify with. 
 

It also states in para 56 that, ‘…Materials, construction details and planting 
are selected with care for their context. They are attractive but also practical, 

Page 21



 
 

durable and affordable. They contribute to visual appeal and local 
distinctiveness. In well-designed buildings, the materials and details suit the 
design concept and they are consistently followed through the construction 
process to completion.’  

 
7.20  Like the previously approved scheme, the proposal would include habitable 

accommodation within the roof. In order to provide sufficient light to these 
rooms a number of roof lights have been included. As with the approved 
development, the roof lights have been positioned symmetrically and it is 
considered that the design of the roof would not appear out of scale with the 
host building. The proposal would include an area of flat roof and it is 
considered that this would not be so visually prominent as to cause harm to 
the wider area.  

 
7.21  The proposed shared amenity area would be located in the north east corner 

of the site and would be relatively well screened from the surrounding area so 
as not to feel overlooked. The proposal would include a landscaped frontage 
along both Stanwell Road and Chaucer Road and would retain an existing 
tree located at the front of the site. 

 
7.22 The proposed parking area would partly be located within the semi-basement 

(8 spaces) and also to the rear (east) of the proposed building (10 spaces). It 
would include a total of 18 spaces, two of which would be disabled parking 
spaces. It is considered its position to the rear of the building and within the 
semi-basement, would be acceptable and that it would not lead to the parking 
area having a dominant appearance on the site. as was the case previously 
with the parking at the rear of the site. The car park would be partially 
screened by the building and landscaped planting, which can be controlled by 
a condition 

 
7.23 The current proposal is considered to take into account the character of the 

area as is required by the Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) on 
Design and Policy EN1, and conforms to the NPPF. In addition, the proposal, 
although taller than the previously approved scheme, would not be harmful to 
the character of the area and is considered to be appropriate with the overall 
form and layout of its surroundings, on this unique corner plot. As such the 
proposal is considered to be acceptable in design terms and in particular 
when compared to the previously approved scheme, conforming to Policy 
EN1. Therefore the design is considered to be acceptable. 

  
 Impact on the Adjacent Listed Building 
7.24  Policy EN5 states that eh Council will seek to preserve its architectural and 

historic interest by requiring development proposal for any sites affecting the 
setting of a listed building to have special regard to the need to preserve its 
setting. Section 66 of the Listed Building Act 1990 requires a planning 
authority to have ‘special regard’ to the desirability of preserving a listed 
building and its setting. The application site is opposite the Grade II listed 
building St Hilda’s Church which is a red brick building that was completed in 
1928 featuring high gable ends. Any proposal for new development should 
demonstrate that it would not harm the building or its setting. The proposed 
building has been designed with staggered gable frontages to add both visual 
interest to the building and to reflect the large gable end of this part of the 

Page 22



 
 

listed church facing the application site and in ancillary elements of that 
building. The use of strong gable features and of red brick within parts of the 
proposed frontage would pay regard to those design features and materials 
within the church, and the modern materials such as the glass balustrades 
would contrast and allow the new building to maintain its own identity. It is not 
considered that the proposal would cause harm to the listed building but 
rather that the proposal would improve the setting of the listed building by the 
removal of the 1980s factory building with no comparable design merit and 
replacement with a sympathetic design. Therefore although the proposed 
building is taller than the previously approved scheme, it continues to 
enhance the setting of St Hilda’s Church. 
 

7.25  The Council’s Heritage and Conservation Area Officer has raised no 
objection to the proposal and states that, ‘…The new application achieves a 
greater number of units by introducing a semi basement area accommodating 
one apartment and an increase in overall roof height. The semi-basement unit 
has a low level patio which mitigates the disadvantage of living partly below 
pavement level while the increase in overall height is partly mitigated by the 
retention of the predominantly hipped roof design. The footprint is modestly 
larger than the approved scheme but seems not to adversely affect the 
surrounding properties. The site is effectively a corner site so can, in my view, 
handle a greater scale.  
 
Although the listed Church of St. Hilda is close by, I do not consider this 
proposal would harm its setting. The area or car parking and amenity space 
avoids overpowering No.2 Chaucer Road while No. 104 Stanwell Road has a 
communal drive leading to three lock up garages, between the new 
development, which in any case is only 2.5 storeys high to eaves with a 
hipped roof which lessens the bulk.  The use of structural glass balconies 
imparts a light and airy aesthetic to the scheme, which I think is acceptable on 
design grounds. I have no adverse comments on heritage asset grounds.’ 
 
It is therefore considered that the proposal will enhance the setting of the 
nearby Grade II listed church and accords with Policy EN5. 

 
 Impact on neighbouring residential properties 
7.26 Policy EN1b of the CS & P DPD states that: 
 

“New development should achieve a satisfactory relationship to adjoining 
properties avoiding significant harmful impact in terms of loss of privacy, 
daylight or sunlight, or overbearing effect due to bulk and proximity or 
outlook.” 

 
7.27 The Council’s Supplementary Planning Document on the Design of 

Residential Extensions and New Residential Development 2011 (SPD) sets 
out policies requirements in order to ensure this is met. 

 
7.28 The Design SPD in para 3.6 acknowledges that ‘most developments will have 

some impact on neighbours, the aim should be to ensure that the amenity of 
adjoining occupiers is not significantly harmed.’ It sets out minimum 
separation distances for development to ensure that proposals do not create 
unacceptable levels of loss of light, be overbearing or cause loss of privacy or 

Page 23



 
 

outlook. These are set as a minimum for 2 storey development of 10.5m for 
back to boundary distance and 21m for back to back development. Three 
storey development has a back to boundary distance of 15m and back to 
back distance of 30m. There is also a minimum distance for back to flank 
elevations of 13.5m (2 storey) and 21m (3 storey). 

 
7. 29 The nearest existing residential property to the proposed building is no. 104 

Stanwell Road which is a detached property to the north of the site. Whilst the 
existing building, Headline House, is lower, it is located directly on the 
boundary of the site, whereas the proposed building would be set in from the 
northern boundary by 1.2m. There is also an access road which runs between 
the application site and no. 104 which serves a block of 3 garages. As a result 
of this relationship and the gap between the built form, the 45 and 25 degree 
lines are not crossed. These lines are set out in the SPD, and are used as a 
guide to ensure that new development does not block light reaching the 
windows serving habitable rooms and the proposal would not infringe either a 
vertical or horizontal 45 degree line when measured from the closest window 
serving habitable rooms of the adjoining dwelling. The 25 degree line would 
not be infringed from any front or rear of adjoining dwellings. 
 

7.30 The proposed ground floor of the main built form is now located above ground 
level as a result of the semi- basement level below (the side/rear element 
fronting Chaucer Road remains at a lower level). Along Stanwell Road, the 
proposed ground and first floors would have full height windows with private 
patios/balconies at ground and first floor. These windows would allow the 
maximum amount of natural light into habitable rooms and provide an outlook 
to the adjacent church. There would also be full height windows at ground and 
first floor level along Chaucer Road, (with the rear part of this elevation not 
being raised and still at 2 storey height). To ensure no loss of privacy to no. 
106 Stanwell Road, situated on the south side of Chaucer Road, the two clear 
glazed first floor windows in this elevation have been positioned to avoid 
views into the rear garden of the neighbouring property. One second floor 
window is proposed in the gable, however this will be obscure glazed, (as 
previously required.  

 
7.31 There would be no clear glazed window openings on the northern flank 

elevation closest to no. 104 Stanwell Road that could give rise to 
unacceptable overlooking. The rear elevation would feature ground and first 
floor full height windows and the ground and first floor units would also be 
served by terraces/balconies which would look out towards the shared 
amenity area and car park. These will now be approx. 1.2m taller on the main 
built form due to the sub-basement, and will have screening to the sides to 
ensure they do not cause overlooking to the side including to no. 104 Stanwell 
Road. It is considered that these rear facing windows and balconies would not 
lead to an unacceptable loss of privacy to the adjoining dwellings due to their 
separation. The closest window in the rear elevation of the main built form 
fronting Stanwell Road, is some 15m from the rear boundary with no. 2 
Chaucer Road, which meets the minimum three storey development 
separation distance for back to boundary distance of 15m, as set out in the 
SPD. It is therefore considered that the impact is acceptable and that refusal 
cannot be justified on these grounds.  

 

Page 24



 
 

7.32 As noted above, the SPD on design sets out minimum separation distances. 
The side/rear element on the Chaucer Road frontage has a lower level than 
the main built form and is very similar in height to the previous scheme and as 
such is considered to be 2 storey development with accommodation in the 
roof. The back of this part of the proposed built form, would have a separation 
distance of approx. 10.5m to the boundary and 15m between the built form 
and no 2 Chaucer Road. This meets the minimum separation distance of 
10.5m for back to boundary distance and exceeds the 13.5m distance for 
back to flank distance, as set out in the SPD. However the applicants have 
removed a balcony originally shown on the rear of the first floor element which 
would have projected further in the direction of no. 2 Chaucer Road. 
Therefore the proposal is considered to have an acceptable impact on the 
amenity of no. 2 Chaucer Road. 

 
7.33 It is considered that due to their angle, and height the proposed roof lights 

would not give rise to overlooking or loss of privacy impact, and that they 
would not lead to unacceptable overlooking due to their skyward orientation. 

 
7.34  As such, it is not considered that the proposal will cause significant 

overlooking, loss of privacy or overbearing/overshadowing or loss of light 
impact and will have an acceptable impact on the amenity of the occupants of 
neighbouring properties.  The proposal is considered to continue to have an 
acceptable relationship with, and therefore impact on, the amenity of existing 
neighbouring residential properties, conforming to the SPD and Policy EN1. 

 
 Amenity Space 
7.35 The Council’s SPD on Residential Extension and New Residential 

Development 2011 provides general guidance on minimum garden sizes 
(Table 2 and paragraph 3.30). In the case of flats it requires 35 sqm per unit 
for the first 5 units, 10 sqm for the next 5 units and 5 sqm per unit thereafter. 
On this basis, 245 sq. m would be required for the 14 flats. The proposal 
provides access to terraces/balconies for many of the flats with an area of 
approx. 93 sq m, however, the applicants were requested to remove one 
balcony facing the rear. In addition, there is a communal garden area to the 
rear with a total of approx. 143 sq. m. This provides a total of approx. 236 sq 
m of amenity space provision, which falls slightly below the 245 sq m area 
required. In addition to this amenity space provision and balconies/terraces, 
there is an area of landscaping to the front of the site which will provide an 
attractive outlook and further space for the occupants to utilise, although 
visible from the public domain it will not be a private space. However this is 
considered to be of great benefit to the occupants and the visual amenity of 
the site. Therefore it is considered that the amenity space provision is 
acceptable.  

 
Proposed dwelling sizes 

7.36 The SPD on the Design of Residential Extensions and New Residential 
Development 2011 sets out minimum floorspace standards for new dwellings. 
These standards relate to single storey dwellings including flats, as well as to 
2 and 3 storey houses. For example, the minimum standard for a 1-bedroom 
flat for 2 people is 50 sqm. 

 

Page 25



 
 

7.37 The Government has since published national minimum dwelling size 
standards in their “Technical Housing Standards – nationally described space 
standard” document dated March 2015. These largely reflect the London 
Housing Design Guide on which the Spelthorne standards are also based. 
The standards are arranged in a similar manner to those in the SPD and 
includes minimum sizes for studio flats. This national document must be given 
substantial weight in consideration of the current application in that it adds this 
additional category of small dwellings not included in the Council’s Standards. 

 
7.38 All of the proposed flats comply with the minimum standards stipulated in the 

national technical housing standards and the SPD. The proposed flats would 
have a good level of outlook with those facing Stanwell Road facing towards 
the listed church, across the landscaped area. In addition the proposed flat in 
the semi-basement will not be completely sunk in the ground but will have 
windows and access onto a terraced area around the flat which will provide a 
small private outside area (such as a balcony) and provide a sufficient level of 
light and outlook from this unit. The flats at second floor level within the roof 
are served by roof lights and will have an outlook towards the sky as 
previously approved.  The site is located in a sustainable location, in close 
proximity to public transport links and local facilities, including the park on 
Woodthorpe Road in walking distance. Therefore, it is considered that the 
standard of overall amenity for future occupants is acceptable. 

  
Highway and parking provision 

7.39 Policy CC2 of the CS & P DPD states that: 

“The Council will seek to secure more sustainable travel patterns by: … (d) 
only permitting traffic generating development where it is or can be made 
compatible with the transport infrastructure in the area taking into account: 
(i) number and nature of additional traffic movements, including servicing 
needs; (ii) capacity of the local transport network; (iii) cumulative impact 
including other proposed development; (iv) access and egress to the public 
highway; and (v) highway safety. 

7.40 Policy CC3 (Parking Provision) of the CS & P DPD states that the Council will 
require appropriate provision to be made for off-street parking in development 
proposals in accordance with its maximum parking standards.  

 
7.41 On 20 September 2011 the Council’s Cabinet agreed a ‘Position Statement’ 

on how Policy CC3 should now be interpreted in the light of the Government’s 
recent parking policy changes. The effect of this is that the Council will give 
little weight to the word ‘maximum’ in relation to residential development when 
applying Policy CC3 and its residential parking standards will generally be 
applied as minimum (maximum parking standards continue to be applicable in 
relation to commercial development).  

 
7.42 The proposed parking provision for the site is 18 spaces. The Council’s 

Parking Standards as set out in the Supplementary Planning Guidance 
requires 1.25 spaces per 1 bed unit, 1.5 spaces per 2 bed unit. As such the 
current proposal for 14 units (5 no. 1 bed and 5 no. 2 bed) would require 
19.25 spaces, rounded up to 20 car parking spaces. The 18 spaces provided 
falls slightly short of the current parking standards minimum requirements. 

Page 26



 
 

However the site is in a location just outside the town centre and as such is 
sustainable, with local facilities and transport options including railway line and 
bus stops within walking distance. The policy allows for a reduction in this 
figure when this is the case. In addition, the proposal would provide a total of 
14 secure cycle parking spaces within the main building which complies with 
the required one cycle space per flat. 

 
7.43 The County Highway Authority (CHA) have been consulted and note that,  

‘…the Parking Standards document states that a lower parking provision can 
be provided where the site is sustainable located with good opportunities for 
sustainable travel. The site is located within reasonable walking distance from 
good bus and train services, as well as a range of local amenities in Ashford 
Town Centre. A regular bus service stops in close proximity to the site on 
Woodthorpe Road, and Ashford Rail Station is approximately 500m walk to 
the north-east. The Highway Authority understands that Chaucer Road, and 
the surrounding roads, experience high parking stress due to residential and 
commuter parking. If some additional on-street parking demand were 
generated by the proposed development, this may inconvenience some local 
residents when seeking somewhere to park. However, given existing parking 
controls in particular areas In the vicinity of the site, it is unlikely a small 
increase in on-street demand would cause highway safety or capacity issues’. 
As a result, the Highway Authority does not consider it is appropriate to object 
to the proposal based on parking concerns or highway safety issues. 

 
7.44 It is acknowledged that the local area is subject to a high level of on street 

parking with many houses not having driveways. In addition the area is close 
to the town centre and public transport which results in commuters and 
customers also using these roads to park, as well as residents. Therefore a 
large number of letters of objection have been received in relation to this 
particular issue. The proposal would provide a level of parking which would 
accord with the policy given the sustainable location and would not lead to 
highway safety issues.  This is noted by the CHA who acknowledge that some 
people using the local streets to park may be inconvenienced. A Planning 
Inspector has previously commented on an appeal for flats near Shepperton 
railway station, that smaller units, close to a railway station are likely to attract 
smaller households with residents who do not need to rely on a car. During 
appeal 3147648 for PA no.15/00427/FUL-)  for an extension to the existing 
building at the former 6 Green Lane for 6 flats,, the Inspector stated that, ’…I 
am not convinced that the proposed accommodation would materially 
increase the demand for on street parking given the relatively small size of the 
units and the accessibility of good public transport links nearby. In such 
circumstances I consider that the accommodation would be more desirable to 
small households without a car.’ It is considered therefore that there are no 
grounds on which to refuse the scheme in relation to the amount of parking 
provided at the site.  

 
7.45  Therefore the proposed parking provision for the residential units is 

considered to be acceptable. The CHA has raised no objection to the 
proposed scheme on highway safety grounds or parking provision and the site 
is located within a sustainable location. As such it is considered that the 
scheme is acceptable in terms of Policies CC2 and CC3 on highway and 
parking issues. 

Page 27



 
 

 
Flooding/Drainage 

7.46 Policy LO1 of the CS & P DPD states that the Council will seek to reduce 
flood risk and its adverse effects on people and property in Spelthorne The 
proposal is not located within a flood rick zone. The Environment Agency have 
been consulted and have made no objection but have recommended some 
conditions and as such is considered to be acceptable on flooding grounds.  

 

7.47 The Lead Local Flood Authority at Surrey County Council has been consulted 
in regards to the SUDS and the submitted drainage strategy and have made 
no objection subject to conditions. As such the proposal is considered to be 
acceptable on drainage grounds. 

  
Renewable Energy 

7.48 Policy CC1 of the CS & P DPD states that the Council will require residential 
development of one or more dwellings and other development involving new 
building or extensions exceeding 100 sqm to include measures to provide at 
least 10% of the development’s energy demand from on-site renewable 
energy sources unless it can be shown that it would seriously threaten the 
viability of the development. 

 
7.49 The applicant has submitted a renewable energy statement and concludes 

that through the use of Air Source Heat Pumps (ASHP) units to be located 
within the basement car park area, can provide a total energy reduction of at 
least 10%. The Council’s Sustainability Officer has been consulted and raises 
no objection.  Accordingly, the renewable energy proposals are acceptable 
but details would be subject to condition.  

Dwelling mix 
7.50 Policy HO4 of the CS & P DPD (Housing Size and Type) states that the 

Council will ensure that the size and type of housing reflects the needs of the 
community by requiring developments that propose four or more dwellings to 
include at least 80% of their total as one or two bedroom units.  

7.51 The proposal complies with the requirements of Policy HO4 with all of the 14 
units being one and two bedroomed, this represents 100% of the scheme and 
therefore complies with policy HO4.  

 
Impact on Trees/Landscaping 

7.52 The applicant has submitted an Arboricultural Impact Assessment as 2 trees 
on the site will be removed as a result of the proposal. The Council’s Tree 
Officer has raised no objection to this noting that these trees have little merit 
and the proposal can provide some landscaping to help to compensate for 
their loss.  

 
7.53 The communal gardens and the areas of planting to the front of the site will 

provide some landscaping which will help to complement the proposed built 
form and act as a buffer to the parking areas. The detail of which will be 
covered by condition. 

 
 
 

Page 28



 
 

 Contaminated Land  
7.54 The Council’s Pollution Control Officer has raised no objection but has 

requested conditions to be imposed requiring an investigation to be carried 
out to identity risks and remediation measures. Subject to these conditions, 
the proposal is considered acceptable. 

 
Air quality 

7.55 The applicant has submitted an Air Quality Assessment (AQA), as is required 

by Policy EN3 of the CS & P DPD. The AQA assesses the impact of both 

construction and operational impacts of the proposed development and 

recommends further details which should be included in a Dust Management 

Plan be submitted for the demolition and construction phase. It is considered 

that this and the requirement for a demolition method statement could be 

brought to the attention of the applicant by the imposition of an informative. 

The applicant has committed in principle to the provision of electric vehicle 

charging infrastructure. The type and level of charging should accord with the 

Surrey County Vehicular and Cycle Parking Guidance standards and 

therefore it is recommended that any permission granted is subject to a 

condition requiring details of installation of 4 no. EV charging points. 

Therefore this is considered to be acceptable.  

 
 Refuse Storage and Collection 
7.56 The layout of the site has been designed to provide the refuse storage 

facilities within the ground floor of the building, close to Clarence Road, within 
reach of the refuse collection vehicles and accessible by residents. The 
proposal provides a bin store area provides enough space for 6880 litres of 
waste which exceeds the required amount of 6720 litres for the 14 flats. 

 
7.57 The Council’s Head of Street Scene has raised no objection to the 

arrangement. Furthermore, the County Highway Authority has raised no 
objection on this particular issue. Accordingly, the proposed refuse storage 
and collection facilities are acceptable. 

 
 Crime and Design 
7.58 With regard to the Crime Prevention Officer’s comments, as with the previous 

scheme, it is not considered appropriate to impose a condition, as requested, 
relating to “Secured by Design”. Many of the requirements are very detailed 
(e.g. standards of windows, doors and locks), elements which are not 
normally covered and enforced under the planning regulations. It is 
recommended that this can be brought to the attention of the applicant by 
adding an informative. 

  
 Other Matters 
7.59 An objection has been received from SCAN that the units have not been 

designed to provide access and facilities for wheelchair users. The proposed 
parking involves two disabled parking spaces and the applicant has confirmed 
that the development is Approved Document M (4)1 compliant and Approved 
Document Part K which relate to Building Regulations. This will allow 
occupants/visitors to gain access to and use the dwelling and its facilities. The 
applicant notes that for clarification, under Part M (4)1, where lift access 
cannot reasonably be achieved it is acceptable to provide a suitable stair. It is 
also noted that under the Equalities Act 2010 which is separate legislation 

Page 29



 
 

from planning, a duty of responsibility is placed on the owner of the premises 
to provide facilities for disabled persons to access a building. It is 
recommended that an informative can be attached to the decision notice 
advising the applicant of the duty to make adjustments to the property under 
the Equalities Act to make it accessible to disabled people as was the case 
with the previous application. 

 
7.60 Third party representations have also raised concern about the impact of the 

proposal on noise. The proposed building would need to meet building 
regulation requirements in terms of noise insulation and it is not considered 
that a residential development of this size would generate unacceptable levels 
of noise sufficient to justify refusal. 
 
One neighbouring property also refers to the ‘living’ boundary wall. The 
applicants show on the plans that the northern and eastern boundary wall will 
be formed from the existing wall reduced in height to 2m with brick coping. 
 

7.61 The Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) provides funds to contribute towards 
infrastructure. The current scheme would provide a sum of approximately 
£216,000, as noted below. 

  
 Financial Considerations 
7.62 Under S155 of the Housing and Planning Act 2016, Local Planning Authorities 

are now required to ensure that potential financial benefits of certain 
development proposals are made public when a Local Planning Authority is 
considering whether or not to grant planning permission for planning 
applications which are being determined by the Council’s Planning 
Committee. A financial benefit must be recorded regardless of whether it is 
material to the Local Planning Authority’s decision on a planning application, 
but planning officers are required to indicate their opinion as to whether the 
benefit is material to the application or not. In consideration of S155 of the 
Housing and Planning Act 2016, the proposal is a CIL chargeable 
development. It will generate a CIL Payment in relation to the net additional 
gross floor space. This amounts to a CIL payment of approximately £216,000 
which is a material consideration in the determination of this planning 
application. The proposal will also generate a New Homes Bonus and Council 
Tax payments which are not material considerations in the determination of 
this proposal.  

 
 Conclusion  
7.61 The proposal seeks to redevelopment of the site for the erection of 14 flats 

which will meet the need for housing and has significant weight. It will make 
effective use of urban land in a sustainable location. The design and 
appearance is considered to be acceptable and in keeping with the character 
of the area, as although taller than many surrounding properties it is a corner 
plot and has many design features of adjoining sites. The proposal is 
considered to respect and make a positive contribution to the street scene 
and the character of the area in which it is located. The proposal to provide 14 
units is considered acceptable. 

 
7.62 The NPPF requires permission for housing to be granted in areas where there 

is a shortfall in the 5 year housing land supply which includes Spelthorne, 

Page 30



 
 

unless the impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh 
the benefits when assessed against the NPPF as a whole. The proposal is 
considered to be acceptable and that there is no harm caused that would 
significantly and demonstrably outweigh the benefits of providing new housing 
in this brownfield site in a sustainable location. Therefore the proposal is 
considered to conform to Policies of the Core Strategy and Policies DPD, 
SPD and the NPPF. Consequently the application is recommended for 
approval. 

8.  Recommendation 

 

8.1  GRANT subject to the following conditions: 

 

1.  The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration 
of two years from the date of this permission. 
 
Reason: - This condition is required by Section 91 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act, 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning 
and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 

 
2.  The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance 

with the following approved plans and drawings:- 
 
XX BP A 0001, 0002, 201, 202, 204, 205, 210 and 211 received on 
20.09.2019 and amended plan no.2436 RDJWL-ZZ-XX-DR-A_0203 A3 
C5, 0206 A3 C5, 207 A3 C4, 208 A3 C4 and 212 A3 C3 received on 
17.01.2020 
 

Reason: - For the avoidance of doubt and in the interest of proper 
planning  

 
3.  No development above damp-proof course level shall take place until 

details of the materials and detailing to be used for the external 
surfaces of the buildings and surface material for parking areas are 
submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority. The 
development shall then be constructed in accordance with the 
approved materials. 

Reason:- To ensure that the proposed development does not prejudice 
the appearance of the development and the visual amenities and 
character of the locality, in accordance with policies SP6 and EN1 of 
the Spelthorne Borough Core Strategy and Policies Development Plan 
Document 2009. 
 

4 Prior to the occupation of the development, details of a scheme of the 
means of enclosure shall be submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority indicating the positions, design, materials 
and type of boundary treatment to be erected.  The boundary treatment 
shall be completed before the building(s)/use is/are occupied.  
Development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved 
details and maintained as approved. 
 

Page 31



 
 

Reason:-  To ensure that the proposed development does not 
prejudice the enjoyment by neighbouring occupiers of their properties 
and the appearance of the locality in accordance with policies SP6 and 
EN1 of the Spelthorne Borough Core Strategy and Policies 
Development Plan Document 2009. 
 

5. Details of a scheme of both soft and hard landscaping works shall be 
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority 
prior to the first occupation of any part of the development hereby 
approved. The approved scheme of tree and shrub planting and other 
associated works shall be carried out prior to first occupation of the 
buildings and/or site. The planting so provided shall be maintained as 
approved for a period of 5 years, such maintenance to include the 
replacement in the current or next planting season whichever is the 
sooner, of any trees or shrubs that may die, are removed or become 
seriously damaged or diseased, with others of similar size and species, 
unless the Local Planning Authority gives written permission to any 
variation. 

 
Reason: - To minimise the loss of visual amenity occasioned by the 
development and to enhance the proposed development. 
 

6.  The measures set out in the Arboricultural report (ref: 
APA/AP/2017/117 dated 2 September 2019) be adhered to at all times, 
and any variation be submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority 

 
Reason: - To prevent damage to the trees in the interest of the visual 
amenities of the area, in accordance with policies SP6 and EN1 of the 
Spelthorne Borough Core Strategy and Policies Development Plan 
Document 2009. 

 
7 Prior to the occupation of the buildings hereby permitted details 

including a technical specification of all proposed external lighting shall 
be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The agreed external lighting shall be implemented prior to 
the occupation of the buildings and shall at all times accord with the 
approved details. 

Reason: - To safeguard the amenity of neighbouring residential 
properties, in the interest of security, and in the interest of wildlife. 

 
.  8. No demolition, site clearance or building operations shall commence 

until protective fencing consisting of weld mesh panels on a scaffold 
framework as shown in Figure 2 of BS5837 2012 has been erected 
around each tree or tree group to be retained on the site in accordance 
with details to be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning 
Authority before any work on the development hereby permitted is first 
commenced, such details to include trenches, pipe runs for services 
and drains. Such fencing shall be maintained during the course of the 
development and no storage of materials or erection of buildings shall 
take place within the fenced area. 

Page 32



 
 

 
(b) The destruction by burning of materials shall not take place within 6 
m (19 ft 8 ins) of the canopy of any tree or tree group to be retained on 
the site or on land adjoining. 

 
Reason:- To prevent damage to the trees in the interest of the visual 
amenities of the area, in accordance with policies SP6 and En1 of the 
Spelthorne Borough Core Strategy and Policies Development Plan 
Document 2009. 

 
9.  Prior to the occupation of the development hereby permitted the ground 

and first floor windows in the most northern side elevation and the 
second floor window in the most southern Chaucer Road elevations 
shall be obscure glazed and be non-opening to a minimum height of 
1.7m above internal floor level in accordance with details/samples of 
the type of glazing pattern to be submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. These windows shall thereafter be 
permanently retained as installed. 

 
Reason:- To safeguard the privacy of the adjoining properties in 
accordance with policies SP6 and EN1 of the Spelthorne Borough Core 
Strategy and Policies Development Plan Document 2009. 

 
10.  Notwithstanding the details shown on the submitted drawings, prior to 

the occupation of the dwellings privacy screens shall be installed on the 
northern side of the east-facing and west-facing balconies and terraces 
of the most northern ground and first floor units. in accordance with 
details to be submitted and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. These details shall provide privacy screens measuring at 
least 1.8m in height which shall be installed prior to the first use of the 
balconies and thereafter retained. 

 
Reason:- To safeguard the amenity of neighbouring residential 
properties. 

 
11 Prior to the occupation of the building the enclosed cycle storage 

facility shall be provided on the site in accordance with the approved 
plans and thereafter shall be maintained as approved. 

  
Reason:- The condition above is required in order that the development 
should not prejudice highway safety, nor cause inconvenience to other 
highway users, and to accord with the National Planning Policy 
Framework 2012 and policy CC3 (Parking) of Spelthorne Borough 
Council’s Core Strategy and Policies Development Plan Document 
February 2009. 

 
12.  Notwithstanding the submitted plans the development hereby approved 

shall not be first occupied unless and until the existing vehicular access 
to Chaucer Road has been modified and provided with tactile paving in 
accordance with a scheme to be submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority, all to be permanently retained. 
 

Page 33



 
 

Reason:- The condition above is required in order that the development 
should not prejudice highway safety, nor cause inconvenience to other 
highway users, and to accord with the National Planning Policy 
Framework 2012 and policy CC2 (highway safety) and CC3 (parking) 
of Spelthorne Borough Council’s Core Strategy and Policies 
Development Plan Document February 2009. 

 
13.  The development hereby approved shall not be occupied unless and 

until at least four of the proposed residential parking spaces are 
provided with a fast charge socket (current minimum requirements - 7 
kw Mode 3 with Type 2 connector - 230v AC 32 Amp single phase 
dedicated supply) for the charging of electric vehicles in accordance 
with a scheme to be submitted and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority and thereafter retained and maintained to the 
satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason: In order that the development makes suitable provision for 
sustainable travel, in accordance with the sustainable objectives of 
Chapter 9 “Promoting sustainable transport” of the National Planning 
Policy Framework 2019, and policies CC2 and CC3 of Spelthorne 
Borough Council’s Core Strategy and Policies Development Plan 
Document February 2009. 

 
14.  The development hereby approved shall not be first occupied unless 

and until space has been laid out within the site in accordance with the 
approved plans for vehicles to be parked and for vehicles to turn so 
that they may enter and leave the site in forward gear. Thereafter the 
parking areas shall be retained and maintained for their designated 
purposes 
. 
Reason:- The condition above is required in order that the development 
should not prejudice highway safety, nor cause inconvenience to other 
highway users, and to accord with the National Planning Policy 
Framework 2012 and policy CC2 (highway Safety) and CC3 (Parking) 
of Spelthorne Borough Council’s Core Strategy and Policies 
Development Plan Document February 2009. 

 
15.  The development hereby approved shall not be first occupied unless 

and until the existing vehicular access to Chaucer Road has been 
modified in accordance with the approved plan, and redundant sections 
of the existing access have been reinstated to kerb and footway, all to 
be permanently retained. 

 
Reason:- The condition above is required in order that the development 
should not prejudice highway safety, nor cause inconvenience to other 
highway users, and to accord with the National Planning Policy 
Framework 2012 and policy CC2 (highway Safety) and CC3 (Parking) 
of Spelthorne Borough Council’s Core Strategy and Policies 
Development Plan Document February 2009. 

 
16.  No development shall commence until a Construction Transport 

Page 34



 
 

Management Plan has been submitted to and approved in writing by t 
the Local Planning Authority, containing details of: 
a) Parking for vehicles of site personnel, operatives and visitors 
b) Loading and unloading of plant and materials 
c) Storage of plant and materials 
d) Provision of boundary hoarding behind any visibility zones 
e) Measures to prevent the deposit of materials on the highway 
The Construction of the development shall be implemented in 
accordance with the agreed Construction Transport Management Plan. 
 
Reason:- The condition above is required in order that the development 
should not prejudice highway safety, nor cause inconvenience to other 
highway users, and to accord with the National Planning Policy 
Framework 2012 and policy CC2 (highway safety) and CC3 (parking) 
of Spelthorne Borough Council’s Core Strategy and Policies 
Development Plan Document February 2009. 

 
17.  The proposed hardstanding area shown on the submitted plan shall be 

constructed to be permeable, or be designed to run off to a permeable 
surface within the site, in accordance with details to be submitted to, 
and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority before the 
commencement of the development. The hardstanding area shall be 
completed and maintained in accordance with the approved details. 
 
Reason:- To minimise the risk of flooding from surface water runoff. 

 
18.  Prior to the occupation of the building, a report has been submitted to 

and agreed by the Local Planning Authority which includes details and 
drawings demonstrating how 10% of the energy requirements 
generated by the development as a whole will be achieved utilising 
renewable energy methods and showing in detail the estimated sizing 
of each of the contributing technologies to the overall percentage. The 
detailed report shall identify how renewable energy, passive energy 
and efficiency measures will be generated and utilised for each of the 
proposed buildings to meet collectively the requirement for the scheme. 

   The agreed measures shall be implemented with the construction of 
each building and thereafter retained and maintained to the satisfaction 
of the Local Planning Authority unless otherwise agreed in writing. 
 
Reason:- To ensure that the development is sustainable and complies 
with policies SP7 and CC1 of the Spelthorne Core Strategy and 
Policies Development Plan Document February 2009. 

 
19.  Prior to the occupation of the building, facilities shall be provided within 

the curtilage of the site for the storage of refuse and waste materials in 
accordance with the details hereby approved, and thereafter shall be 
maintained as approved. 

 
Reason:- To ensure that the proposed development does not prejudice 
the enjoyment by neighbouring occupiers of their properties and the 
appearance of the locality, in accordance with policies SP6 and EN1 of 
the Spelthorne Borough Core Strategy and Policies Development Plan 

Page 35



 
 

Document 2009. 
 

20.  No development shall take place until: 
(i) A comprehensive desk-top study, carried out to identify and evaluate 
all potential sources and impacts of land and/or groundwater 
contamination relevant to the site has been submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
(ii) Where any such potential sources and impacts have been  
identified, a site investigation has been carried out to fully characterise 
the nature and extent of any land and/or groundwater contamination 
and its implications. The site investigation shall not be commenced 
until the extent and methodology of the site investigation have been 
agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority. 
 (iii) A written method statement for the remediation of land and/or 
groundwater contamination affecting the site shall be agreed in writing 
with the Local Planning Authority prior to the commencement of 
remediation. The method statement shall include an implementation 
timetable and monitoring proposals, and a remediation verification 
methodology. The site shall be remediated in accordance with the 
approved method statement, with no deviation from the statement 
without express written agreement of the Local Planning Authority. 
 
Reason:- To protect the amenities of future residents and the 
environment from the effects of potentially harmful substances in 
accordance with policies SP6 and EN15 of the Spelthorne Borough 
Core Strategy and Policies Development Plan Document 2009. 
NOTE The requirements of the above condition must be carried out in 
accordance with current best practice. The applicant is therefore 
advised to contact Spelthorne’s Pollution Control team on 01784 
446251 for further advice and information before any work 
commences. An information sheet entitled “Land Affected by 
Contamination: Guidance to Help Developers Meet Planning 
Requirements” proving guidance can also be downloaded from 
Spelthorne’s website at www.spelthorne.gov.uk. 

 
21. Prior to the first use or occupation of the development, and on 

completion of the agreed contamination remediation works, a validation 
report that demonstrates the effectiveness of the remediation carried 
out shall be submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. 

 
Reason:- To protect the amenities of future residents and the 
environment from the effects of potentially harmful substances in 
accordance with policies SP6 and EN15 of the Spelthorne Borough 
Core Strategy and Policies Development Plan Document 2009. 
NOTE The requirements of the above condition must be carried out in 
accordance with current best practice. The applicant is therefore 
advised to contact Spelthorne’s Pollution Control team on 01784 
446251 for further advice and information before any work 
commences. An information sheet entitled “Land Affected by 
Contamination: Guidance to Help Developers Meet Planning 

Page 36



 
 

Requirements” proving guidance can also be downloaded from 
Spelthorne’s website at www.spelthorne.gov.uk. 

  
22. The development hereby permitted shall not commence until details of 

the design of a surface water drainage scheme have been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the planning authority. The design must 
satisfy the SuDS Hierarchy and be compliant with the national Non-
Statutory Technical Standards for SuDS, NPPF and Ministerial 
Statement on SuDS. The required drainage details shall include:  

 
a) The results of infiltration testing completed in accordance with BRE 
Digest: 365 and confirmation of groundwater levels.  

b) Evidence that the proposed final solution will effectively manage the 
1 in 30 & 1 in 100 (+40% allowance for climate change) storm events, 
during all stages of the development.  

c) Detailed drainage design drawings and calculations to include: a 
finalised drainage layout detailing the location of drainage elements, 
pipe diameters, levels, and long and cross sections of each element 
including details of any flow restrictions and maintenance/risk reducing 
feature (silt traps, inspection chambers etc.).  
d) A plan showing exceedance flows (i.e. during rainfall greater than 
design events or during blockage) and how property on and off site will 
be protected.  

e) Details of drainage management responsibilities and maintenance 
regimes for the drainage system.  

f) Details of how the drainage system will be protected during 
construction and how runoff (including any pollutants) from the 
development site will be managed before the drainage system is 
operational.  

   
Reason: To ensure the design meets the national Non-Statutory 
Technical Standards for SuDS and the final drainage design does not 
increase flood risk on or off site.  
 

23 Prior to the first occupation of the development, a verification report 
carried out by a qualified drainage engineer must be submitted to and 
approved by the Local Planning Authority. This must demonstrate that 
the drainage system has been constructed as per the agreed scheme 
(or detail any minor variations), provide the details of any management 
company and state the national grid reference of any key drainage 
elements (surface water attenuation devices/areas, flow restriction 
devices and outfalls).  

 
Reason: To ensure the Drainage System is constructed to the National 
Non-Statutory Technical Standards for SuDS. 

 
 
 
INFORMATIVES TO APPLICANT 
 
1. The permission hereby granted shall not be construed as authority to carry out 
works on the highway or any works that may affect a drainage channel/culvert or 

Page 37

http://www.spelthorne.gov.uk/


 
 

water course. The applicant is advised that a licence must be obtained from the 
Highway Authority Local Transportation Service before any works are carried out on 
any footway, footpath, carriageway, verge or other land forming part of the highway. 
The applicant is also advised that Consent may be required under Section 23 of the 
Land Drainage Act 1991. Please see http://www.surreycc.gov.uk/people-
andcommunity/emergency-planning-andcommunity-safety/floodingadvice/ordinary-
watercourse-consents. 
 
2. The developer is advised that as part of the detailed design of the highway works 
required by the above condition(s), the County Highway Authority may require 
necessary accommodation works to street lights, road signs, road markings, highway 
drainage, surface covers, street trees, highway verges, highway surfaces, surface 
edge restraints and any other street furniture/equipment. 
 
3. The developer is reminded that it is an offence to allow materials to be carried 
from the site and deposited on or damages the highway from unclean wheels or 
badly loaded vehicles. The Highway Authority will seek, wherever possible, to 
recover any expenses incurred in clearing, cleaning or repairing highway surfaces 
and prosecutes persistent offenders. (Highways Act 1980 Sections 131, 148, 149). 
 
4. You are advised that the Council will expect the following measures to be taken 
during any building operations to control noise, pollution and parking: 
a) Work that is audible beyond the site boundary should only be carried out between 
08:00hrs to 18:00hrs Monday to Friday, 08:00hrs to 13:00hrs Saturday and not at all 
on Sundays or any Public and/or Bank Holidays; 
b) The quietest available items of plant and machinery should be used on site. 
Where permanently sited equipment such as generators are necessary, they should 
be enclosed to reduce noise levels’  
c) Deliveries should only be received within the ours detailed in (a) above; 
d) Adequate steps should be taken to prevent dust-causing nuisance beyond the site 
boundary. Such uses included the use of hoses to damp down stockpiles of 
materials, which are likely to generate airborne dust, to damp down during stone/slab 
cutting; and the use of bowsers and wheel washes; 
e) There should be no burning on site; 
f) Only minimal security lighting should be used outside the hours stated above; and 
g) Building materials and machinery should not be stored on the highway and 
contractors’ vehicles should be parked with care so as not to cause an obstruction or 
block visibility on the highway. Further details of these noise and pollution measures 
can be obtained from the Council’s Environmental Health Services Unit. In order to 
meet these requirements and to promote good neighbourliness, the Council 
recommends that this site is registered with the Considerate Constructors Scheme 
(www.ccscheme.org.uk/index.php/site-registration). 
 
5. The applicant is advised that the essential requirements for an acceptable 
communication plan for surrounding properties forming part of a Method of 
Construction Statement are viewed as: 
a) How those likely to be affected by the site’s activities are identified and how they 
will be informed about the project, site activities and programme; 
b) How neighbours will be notified prior to any noisy/disruptive work or of any 
significant changes to the site activity that may affect them; 
c) The arrangements that will be in place to ensure a reasonable telephone response 
during working hours; 

Page 38

http://www.ccscheme.org.uk/index.php/site-registration


 
 

d) The name and contact details of the site manager who will be able to deal with 
complaints; and 
e) How those who are interested in or affected will be routinely advised regarding the 
progress of the work. Registration and operation of the site to the standards set by 
the Considerate Constructors Scheme (http://www.ccscheme.org.uk/) would help 
fulfil these requirements. 
 
6. The applicant is reminded that it is their responsibility to make proper provision for 
drainage to ground, water courses or a suitable sewer. In respect of surface water it 
is recommended that the applicant ensures that storm flows are attenuated or 
regulated into the receiving public network through on or off site storage. When it is 
proposed to connect to a combined public sewer, the site drainage should be 
separate or combined at the final manhole nearest the boundary. Connections are 
not permitted for the removal of groundwater. Where the developer proposes to 
discharge to a public sewer, prior approval from Thames Water Developer Services 
will be required. They can be reached on 0800 009 3921. This is to ensure that the 
surface water discharge from the site shall not be detrimental to the existing 
sewerage system. 
 
7. The applicant’s attention is drawn to the ACPO/Home Office Secured by Design 
(SBD) award scheme, details of which can be viewed at www.securedbydesign.com. 
 
8. The applicant is recommended to install a dropped kerb outside the bin storage 
and hatched lines be placed kerbside to ensure that the bins can be safely 
transported up and down the footpath to be emptied. 
 
9. The applicant’s attention is drawn to the Equalities Act 2010, which requires the 
property to be accessible to disabled people. 
 
10. Please note that this application is subject to the payment of Community 
Infrastructure Levy (CIL). Full details of the charge, how it has been calculated and 
what happens next are set out in the CIL Liability Notice which will be sent 
separately If you have not already done so an Assumption of Liability notice should 
be sent to the Council as soon as possible and before the commencement 
of development. 
Further information on CIL and the stages which need to be followed is available on 
the Council's website. www.spelthorne.go.uk/CIL. 

 
 

 
 

  
 

 
 

 
 

Page 39

http://www.securedbydesign.com/


This page is intentionally left blank



10

5

SHARED AMENITY AREA 143m²
PATIOS, TERRACE & BALCONIES 92.29m²
TOTAL: 235.29m2

(REQUIRED 245m2)

Chaucer Road

S
ta

n
w

e
ll 

R
o
a
d

TOTAL 18 NO CAR PARKING 
SPACES INCLUDING 4 NO CAR 

PARKING SPACES WITH 
ELECTRICAL CHARGING POINTS

1

3

6000

BATH

LIVING ROOM

C

LIVING ROOM

BEDROOM 1

KITCHEN

BATH

C KITCHEN

LIVING ROOM

KITCHEN

BATH

BEDROOM 1

ES

BEDROOM 2C

BINS

2

6

7

8

9

3
0
0
0

1
2
0
0

BOUNDARIES TO STANWELL ROAD & 
CHAUCER ROAD TO BE 750mm HIGH 

METAL RAILINGS WITH HEDGING BEHIND

FRONT ENTRANCE 
FROM CHAUCER ROAD

ALTERED VEHICULAR ACCESS 
FROM CHAUCER ROAD HERE

SURFACE FINISH BLOCK 
PAVER (PERMEABLE TYPE)

RED DOTTED LINE INDICATES OUTLINE OF THE APPROVED BUILDING 
EXTENT (PLANNING REF NO. 17/00784/FUL)

REFER TO 
APARBORICULTURE REPORT 
FOR T1,T2 & T3 LOCATIONS 

HERE

NORTHERN & EASTERN BOUNDARIES TO BE FORMED FROM EXISTING 
BRICK WALL REDUCED TO 2m HEIGHT WITH BRICK COPING

REAR ENTRANCE 
FROM PARKING & 

AMENITY AREA

T4

T5

FLAT 2
52.94m2

FLAT 3
61.75m2

FLAT 4
61.10m2

FLAT 5
44.13m2

PATIO

BALC

TERRACE

BALC

1
2
0
0

10913

TACTILE SLABS 
& 

DROP KERBS

4800

15392

4800

CONNECTION TO EX FOUL 
DRAINAGE RUN HERE.

MH TO BE REPOSITIONED

C

BEDROOM 1

BALC

KITCHEN

BATH

BEDROOM 2

ES

C

BEDROOM 1

LIVING ROOM

2

3

4

5

3760

TACTILE SLABS 
& 

DROP KERBS

TREES TO BE PROTECTED & 
RETAINED INDICATED THUS 

(REFER TO APARBORICULTURE 
REPORT FOR T1-T5)

3
6
3
8

TACTILE SLABS 
& 

DROP KERBS

SOAKAWAY

SOAKAWAY

BALANCE PIPE

35000

VEHICLE VISIBILITY 
SPLAY

LANDSCAPING HERE TO 
BE BELOW 1m IN HEIGHT 

19000

2
4
0
0

COVERED CYCLE RACK 
FOR 14No. CYCLES

0 2m 4m 6m 8m 10m
Copyright is reserved

Copying or reproduction of this drawing or electronic data with out the written 

permission of the legal owner is prohibited

Disclaimer

No responsibility is implied for the accuracy or for any consequence resulting 

from the miss use or alteration of this information

Explanations

Unless otherwise stated:

• General tolerances are to ISO 2768-mK

• Dimensions are in millimetres

• Symbols should be read in conjunction with BS 8541-2

Instructions

Responsibility is not accepted for values obtained in scaling from this drawing

Construction information should be taken from written dimensions only

Inconsistencies should be reported to the legal owner immediately 

DRAWING NUMBER

SCALE @ A1

PURPOSE OF ISSUE

TITLE

PROJECT

Key    -   CHK  =  Checked by    APD  =  Approved by    

PROJECT No STATUS REVISION

DRAWN BY CHECKED BY

1 : 100C05

PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT
HEADLINE HOUSE
ASHFORD

PROPOSED SITE LAYOUT

PLANNING

2436 A3

2436-RDJWL-ZZ-XX-DR-A-0205

AT KMD

GENERAL NOTES:

PROPOSED BUILDING TO PROVIDE 14No FLATS
7No X 1 BED AND 7No X 2BED

18No CAR PARKING SPACES PROVIDED 

AMENITY SPACE PROVIDED 235.29M2 (REQUIRED 245M2)

CYCLE SPACES PROVIDED 14No (REQUIRED 14No)

BIN ENCLOSURE PROVIDED TO LA REQUIREMENTS

COMPOST BINS, WASHING LINES & WATER BUTTS TO BE 
PROVIDED

GENERAL PURPOSE (TIT) BOXES TO BE PROVIDED

ACCESS PATHS TO BE PAVED WITH FALLS TO MEET 
BUILDING REGULATIONS AD PART M

REV DATE COMMENT CHK - APD

P1 14.06.19 FIRST ISSUE GS-KMD

P2 02/08/19 MINOR AMMENDMENTS TO SUIT TP
COMMENTS

AT-KMD

P3 06/08/19 MINOR AMMENDMENTS AT-KMD

C01 22/08/19 FOR SUBMISSION AT-KMD

C02 19/09/19 TREE ANNOTATIONS AMENDED AT-KMD

C03 08/11/19 VISIBILITY SPLAY ADDED AT-KMD

C04 02/12/19 BIN & CYCLE STORE AMENDED TO
LA REQUIREMENTS

ZH-KMD

C05 20/01/20 BALCONY TO FLAT 6 REMOVED ZH-KMD

P
age 41



Level 00
0

B1
-1425

Level M1
4275

Level M0
1425

Level 01
2850

Level 02
5700

Level M2
7125

RIDGE HEIGHT
10135

RED DOTTED LINE INDICATES OUTLINE OF THE APPROVED BUILDING EXTENT (PLANNING REF NO. 17/00784/FUL)

4
5
.0

0
°

2
0

0
0

B1
-1425

Level M1
4275

Level M0
1425

Level M2
7125

1800mm HEIGHT 
PRIVACY SCREEN 

1800mm HEIGHT 
PRIVACY SCREEN 

Level 00
0

B1
-1425

Level M1
4275

Level M0
1425

Level 01
2850

Level 02
5700

Level M2
7125

OBSCURED GLAZING FOR PRIVACY

B1
-1425

Level M1
4275

Level M0
1425

Level M2
7125

RIDGE HEIGHT
10135

1800mm HEIGHT 
PRIVACY SCREEN 

0 2m 4m 6m 8m 10m
Copyright is reserved

Copying or reproduction of this drawing or electronic data with out the written 

permission of the legal owner is prohibited

Disclaimer

No responsibility is implied for the accuracy or for any consequence resulting 

from the miss use or alteration of this information

Explanations

Unless otherwise stated:

• General tolerances are to ISO 2768-mK

• Dimensions are in millimetres

• Symbols should be read in conjunction with BS 8541-2

Instructions

Responsibility is not accepted for values obtained in scaling from this drawing

Construction information should be taken from written dimensions only

Inconsistencies should be reported to the legal owner immediately 

DRAWING NUMBER

SCALE @ A1

PURPOSE OF ISSUE

TITLE

PROJECT

Key    -   CHK  =  Checked by    APD  =  Approved by    

PROJECT No STATUS REVISION

DRAWN BY CHECKED BY

1 : 100C04

PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT
HEADLINE HOUSE
ASHFORD

PROPOSED ELEVATIONS

PLANNING

2436 A3

2436-RDJWL-ZZ-ZZ-DR-A-0207

AT KMD

1 : 100

East Elevation
1

1 : 100

North Elevation
2

1 : 100

South Elevation
3

1 : 100

West Elevation
4

REV DATE COMMENT CHK - APD

P1 11/06/19 FIRST ISSUE AT-KMD

P2 02/08/19 MINOR AMMENDMENTS TO SUIT TP
COMMENTS

AT-KMD

P3 06/08/19 MINOR AMMENDMENTS AT-KMD

C01 22/08/19 FOR SUBMISSION AT-KMD

C02 04/0919 45 DEGREE VERTICAL GUIDE
ADDED

AT-KMD

C03 06/09/19 ROOFLIGHTS AMENDED AT-KMD

C04 20/01/20 BALCONY TO FLAT 6 REMOVED ZH-KMD

P
age 42



7

6

8

3

Church Parade

1b

S
t M

ic
ha
el
's

Tennis Courts

Presbytery

ESS

Hall

E
LM

S
W
AY

Fir Tree Place

Gree
ntiles

Telephone

14.6m

14.0m

14.9m

15.2m

14.3m

Prince William

Fordbridge

C
ou
rt

CLARENDON ROAD

P
R
IN
C
E
S
 R
O
A
D

58 to 60

El
m
st
ea
d

Th
e 
M
ap
le
s

The Chestnuts

She
rwo

od

110

Surgery

1

2

68

23

20

19

2a

49

29

9

55

53

51

4

17

28

1513

41 to 45

100

26

16

4a

66

47

14

54

89

79

104

94

25
59

12

38

61

1a

Multistorey

LB

War Memorial

Pavilion

Sanders

Fellwood

2

14

1

1

4

8

1

4

13

14
.3
m

2

1

2

2

2

3

14.0m

6

1

7

9

13

© Crown copyright and database rights 2019 Ordnance Survey 100024284. ¯Scale: 1:1,250

19/01676/FUL – Fordbridge Road.

Page 43

Agenda Item 5



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Planning Committee 

5 February 2020 

 
 

Application No. 19/01676/FUL 

Site Address The Fordbridge Centre, 91 Clarendon Road, Ashford, TW15 2QA 

Applicant Spelthorne Borough Council  

Proposal Erection of a single storey front extension to existing building and 
remodelling to entrance lobby. . 

Ward Ashford Town 

Called-in N/A 

Officer Matthew Clapham 

  

Application Dates 
Valid: 24/12/2019 Expiry: 18/02/2020 

Target: Under 8 
weeks 

Executive 
Summary 

This application site relates to a detached building, the Fordbridge 
Centre, used as a Day Centre for the elderly. This building is located on 
the corner of Fordbridge Road and Clarendon Road and is owned by the 
Borough Council. There is a car parking area for the staff and users of 
the Day Centre, with vehicular access onto Clarendon Road and 
pedestrian access onto Fordbridge Road.  

The proposal seeks to provide a single storey front extension, together 
with an amended access with an enlarged porch/access area to the 
facility. There are also alterations proposed to the parking layout and 
drop off/access arrangements.  

The principle of extending the Day Centre is considered acceptable. It is 
not considered that there would be any adverse impacts upon the 
amenity of adjoining residents or the character and appearance of the 
area.   

Subject to conditions, Surrey County Council has not raised any 
objections in terms of highway safety.  

 

Recommended 
Decision 

 

This planning application is recommended for approval, subject to 
conditions.  

 

Page 45



 
 

 

 MAIN REPORT 

 

1. Development Plan 

The following policies in the Council’s Core Strategy and Policies DPD 2009 
are considered relevant to this proposal: 

 CO1 (Providing Community Facilities) 

 EN1 (Design of New Development) 

 CC3 (Parking Provision) 

2. Relevant Planning History 

04/01234/FUL   Erection of a detached store and fencing              Granted 
                                                                                19.09.2018 
 
87/01028/FUL Erection of a part single storey and part two          Granted 
 Storey day centre with 14 car parking spaces        21.9.2016  
  

3. Description of Current Proposal 

3.1 The application site is a detached building used as a day centre for the 
elderly. It is located on the corner of Fordbridge Road and Clarendon Road 
and is owned by the Council.  

3.2 This proposal seeks permission to provide a single storey front extension with 
dimensions of 10m wide by 8m deep and a maximum height of 3.9m. There 
would also be an amended entrance lobby to the existing building adjoining 
the proposed extension, which would provide for a lobby 2m deep and 5m 
wide with glazed entrance doors. The number of parking spaces would be 
reduced by three from 14 to 11 spaces. An additional drop off area is provided 
to the front of the main entrance to the centre along with an Ambulance 
parking area.   

3.3 A copy of the proposed elevations of the extension and the site layout are 
attached as Appendices. 

4. Consultations 

4.1 The following table shows the consultee and the response. 

Consultee Comment 

Environmental Health 
(contamination) 

No comments.   

Surrey County Council 
(Highways) 

Requested conditions regarding 
pedestrian access and parking layout.  

 

5. Public Consultation 

5.1 Two third party representation letters have been received. One letter from an 
adjoining resident does not object to the principle of the extension, but has 

Page 46



 
 

raised concerns regarding highway access and pedestrian access 
arrangements. The second letter was received from the Spelthorne 
Committee for Access Now (SCAN) regarding concerns with the compliance 
of the proposal on disabled parking arrangements.  

6. Planning Issues 

- Principle of Development 
- Design and appearance 
- Impact on neighbouring properties 
- Parking and Access  

 
7. Planning Considerations 

Principle of Development 

7.1 Policy CO1 of the Spelthorne Borough Core Strategy and Policies 
Development Plan Document (2009) (CS&P DPD) states that the Council will 
seek to ensure community facilities are provided to meet local needs by 
supporting improvements to existing facilities to enable them to adapt to 
changing needs. The Centre is a Community facility within Ashford. It is 
considered that the proposed extension will provide additional space and 
seating areas for the users of the Centre that will enhance and improve the 
existing facilities and provide significant benefits to existing and future users 
of the Centre. Therefore, the principle of the extension is considered 
acceptable.     

Design and Appearance 

7.2 Policy EN1 of the CS&P DPD requires a high standard in the design and layout 
of new development and that new development should respect the character of 
the area in which it is situated. 

7.3 The proposed extension has been designed in a similar style and of similar 
materials to the existing Centre building and is considered to be sympathetic to 
the Fordbridge Centre building and its environs. There is a small area of flat 
roof on the extension, however this is not readily visible from the street scene. 
As such, it is not considered that the proposal would have any materially 
adverse impacts upon the character and appearance of the area or the existing 
building.  

Impact on Neighbouring Properties 

7.4 The proposal is located a reasonable distance away from the nearest 
residential properties, located to the west and on the other side of the 
Fordbridge Road. On the opposite of Clarendon Road, to the north, is a 
Church. The extension is single storey and of a relatively small scale. It is 
commensurate in size to that part of the Centre to which it would be attached 
and of lower profile than the two-storey element of the existing building. As 
such, it is not considered that there would be any adverse impacts upon the 
residential amenity enjoyed by any adjoining dwellings.  

 Parking and Access 

7.5 The proposal does result in the loss of three parking spaces, although a drop 
off area and ambulance parking is provided. The County Highways Authority 
has assessed the proposal and has made the following comments: 

Page 47



 
 

 

‘The proposal would also result in the loss of three parking spaces.  
Notwithstanding this, it is understood that many visitors arrive at the site via 
community mini-bus services. The CHA is not minded to object to the 
proposal on parking grounds, as it is unlikely that the reduced parking space 
would result in a highway safety or capacity issue.’  

As raised by SCAN in their third party representation, the proposal would 
result in the loss of the existing single designated disabled parking space. 
However, the majority of attendees at the site arrive on Spelride buses and 
there is a drop off point provided immediately to the front of the Centre. 
Therefore, the proposal is considered acceptable on parking grounds. 

7.6 In terms of pedestrian access, the County Highway Authority has made 
comments regarding the potential hindrance to pedestrians using the 
pedestrian access to Fordbridge Road, which would mean that users would 
have to walk around the extension to access the Centre. However, it is 
considered that an alternative access arrangement could be provided from 
Clarendon Road as the County Engineers have recommended an appropriate 
condition to provide an amended access. 

Local Finance Considerations 

7.7 S155 of the Housing and Planning Act 2016, Local Planning Authorities are 
now required to ensure that potential financial benefits of certain development 
proposals are made public when a Local Planning Authority is considering 
whether to grant planning permission for planning applications, which are 
being determined by the Council’s Planning Committee.  A financial benefit 
must be recorded regardless of whether it is material to the Local Planning 
Authority’s decision on a planning application, but planning officers are 
required to indicate their opinion as to whether the benefit is material to the 
application or not. In this instance, there are no financial benefits to the 
Authority, although the extension will provide improved facilities for users of 
the Centre.     

Other Matters 

7.8 While the site is in close proximity to the adjoining St Michael’s RC Church,  
which is a Grade II Listed Building, it is not considered that there would be 
any detrimental impacts upon the setting of this listed church. The concerns 
regarding the disability access are noted, however the Centre’s primarily role 
is to provide facilities for the elderly and infirm and accessibility is a vital 
consideration in the operation of the Centre.  

8. Recommendation 

8.1 GRANT subject to the following conditions: -  

1. The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of 
three years from the date of this permission. 

Reason:- This condition is required by Section 91 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act, 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 

2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with 
the following approved plans and drawings: 

Page 48



 
 

1326/PL/001; 1326/PL/002; 1326/PL/003; 1326/PL/004; 1326/PL/005;  
1326/PL/006; 1326/PL/007; 1326/PL/013; 1326/PL/014; 1326/PL/015;  
1326/PL/016 Received 11.12.2019. 
   
Reason:- For the avoidance of doubt and in the interest of proper planning 

3. The extension hereby permitted shall be carried out in facing materials to 
match those of the existing building in colour and texture. 

Reason:- To ensure a satisfactory external appearance in accordance with 
policies SP6 and EN1 of the Spelthorne Borough Core Strategy and 
Policies Development Plan Document 2009. 

4. The development hereby approved shall not be commenced unless and 
until works to improve pedestrian accessibility within the site and provide a 
safe, accessible route to the main entrance have been provided in 
accordance with a scheme to be submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority. Thereafter the said approved facilities shall 
be provided, retained and maintained to the satisfaction of the Local 
Planning Authority. 
 
Reason:- In order that the development makes suitable provision for 
sustainable travel, in accordance with the sustainable objectives of 
Chapter 9 “Promoting sustainable transport” of the National Planning 
Policy Framework 2019, and policies CC2 and CC3 of Spelthorne 
Borough Council’s Core Strategy and Policies Development Plan 
Document February 2009. 

 
5. The development hereby approved shall not be first occupied unless and 

until space has been laid out within the site in accordance with the 
approved plans for vehicles to be parked and for vehicles to turn so that 
they may enter and leave the site in forward gear. Thereafter the parking 
and turning areas shall be retained and maintained for their designated 
purposes. 

 
Reason:- in order that the development should not prejudice highway 
safety, nor cause inconvenience to other highway users, and accord with 
the National Planning Policy Framework 2019 and policy CC3 of 
Spelthorne Borough Council’s Core Strategy and Policies Development 
Plan Document February 2009. 
 
INFORMATIVES – 

Working in a positive/proactive manner 

In assessing this application, officers have worked with the applicant in a 
positive and proactive manner consistent with the requirements of 
paragraphs 186-187 of the NPPF.  This included the following:- 

a) Provided pre-application advice to seek to resolve problems before the 
application was submitted and to foster the delivery of sustainable 
development. 

b) Provided feedback through the validation process including information 
on the website, to correct identified problems to ensure that the 
application was correct and could be registered;  

Page 49



 
 

c) Have suggested/accepted/negotiated amendments to the scheme to 
resolve identified problems with the proposal and to seek to foster 
sustainable development. 

d) Have proactively communicated with the applicant through the process 
to advise progress, timescales or recommendation. 

 
 

The developer is reminded that it is an offence to allow materials to be 
carried from the site and deposited on or damage the highway from 
uncleaned wheels or badly loaded vehicles.  The Highway Authority will 
seek, wherever possible, to recover any expenses incurred in clearing, 
cleaning or repairing highway surfaces and prosecutes persistent 
offenders.  (Highways Act 1980 Sections 131, 148, 149). 
Section 59 of the Highways Act permits the Highway Authority to charge 
developers for damage caused by excessive weight and movements of 
vehicles to and from a site. The Highway Authority will pass on the cost of 
any excess repairs compared to normal maintenance costs to the 
applicant/organisation responsible for the damage 

 

Page 50



P
age 51



P
age 52



P
age 53



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Planning Committee 

5 February 2020 

 

Title Development Management Performance 

Purpose of the 
report 

The purpose of this report is to advise the Planning Committee 
Members on the Development Management (DM) performance 
over the past year.  

 

Report Author Esmé Spinks, Planning Development Manager 

Recommendations 

 

It is recommended that the Planning Committee notes the report.  

Executive 
Summary 

 

Successive governments have assessed Local Planning 
Authorities (LPA) performance on the speed with which they 
determine planning applications.  The “designation regime” 
(introduced in 2013) is based on the speed and quality of 
decisions for major development over a rolling 2 year period.  The 
threshold for speed was initially 30% and for quality, 20%.  The 
speed threshold progressively increased and stood at 50% in 
2015 whilst the quality target remained unchanged.  Spelthorne 
has consistently exceeded these targets.  More recently in 2016, 
the threshold for speed increased to 60% for majors and a new 
70% threshold for non-majors was introduced.  The quality 
threshold for majors and non-majors (the latter being a new 
measure) is 10%.  With the quality assessment, the 10% target 
should not be exceeded.  Over the years, Spelthorne has met and 
surpassed these targets. 
 
Government policy announcements in recent years has aimed to 
boost the supply of housing, enable homes to be built faster and 
encourage higher housing densities within urban locations.  These 
have been encapsulated into the revised National Planning Policy 
Framework, issued in February 2019 where a presumption in 
favour of sustainable development lies at its heart.   
 

The quality of major development is a target which is, and will 
continue to be, monitored closely due to the relatively few number 
of major applications received.  There is a real risk, in terms of 
major applications, of exceeding the new 10% threshold.  It is 
imperative the Council has sound reasons to refuse an 
application, and that these are capable of being defended 
successfully at appeal.  Failure to do so could expose the Council 
to the real risk of “designation”.   
 

Page 55

Agenda Item 6



An up to date development plan gives greater certainty to all 
those involved in the development process and the local 
community.  Decisions based on an up to date plan and 
supplementary guidance which are consistent with the NPPF are 
more easily defended at appeal.  It is important to ensure that 
reasons for refusal can be defended on appeal without the risk of 
an award of costs against the Council.  Robust decision making 
helps to ensure that the risk of the Council being “designated” 
based on appeals is minimised. 
 
Any request for an application to be called into Committee should 
only be if there is a wider public interest as set out in the Council’s 
Planning Code.  The Planning Code is presently being updated 
and is due to be considered again by the Members’ Code of 
Conduct Committee on 30 January 2020. 
 

DM Officers are working within a culture of continuous 
performance throughout the DM process.  Further investment in 
IT software and hardware has been put forward to assist with 
performance management and the Council’s agile working policy.   
 
There were a number of training sessions for Councillors in 2019 
and further training can be arranged as and when required.  This 
will assist with the quality of decision making.  Officers have also 
attended a number of training courses as part of their continuous 
professional development.  His is an on-going requirement. 
 

It is proposed to continue providing planning application 
performance statistics in future Planning Committee papers.   

 

 
 
1. Purpose 
 
1.1 To advise the Committee Members on Development Management (DM) 

performance over the past two years. 
 
 
2. Background 
 
2.1 Successive governments have sought to streamline the planning process by 

setting targets nationally for the speed that Local Planning Authorities (LPAs) 
determine planning applications.  In the late 1990s and 2000s, financial 
incentives were paid to LPAs who met targets.  More recently, the emphasis 
has been on identifying persistent poor performers, designating them as under 
performers and then intervening.  The Government recently increased increase 
the performance targets and introduced a housing delivery test last year which 
required Spelthorne to produce an action plan.   

 

Page 56



 
 
3. The Designation Criteria and Performance 
 
3.1 As part of the Growth Agenda, the Growth and Infrastructure Act 2013 saw an 

introduction to the “designation regime” by measuring performance based on 
the speed and quality of decisions for major development over a rolling 2 year 
period.  The Department for Communities and Local Government (DCLG) 
introduced two separate measures to assess the performance of LPAs: 

 

 Speed of determining major planning applications; and 
 

 The extent to which such decisions are overturned on appeal as an 
indicator of the quality of decisions made by LPAs. 

 
3.2 Under the designation regime, no account was taken of the performance in 

respect of other types of planning applications.  Where an LPA was designated 
as underperforming, applicants could submit applications for major applications 
directly to the Planning Inspectorate to determine, thereby removing the LPA 
from that decision making process.   

 
Major development is defined as: 

 
Major – 10 or more residential units, dwellings on a site with an area of 0.5 
hectares or more, 1,000 sq. m or more of new commercial floorspace or sites 
with an area of more than 1 hectare. 

 
The other two categories where LPAs are assessed on performance but which 
did not form part of the designation regime until recently are: 

 
Minor – Up to 9 residential units, up to 999 sq. m of new floorspace, and 
changes of use, and 

 
Others – mainly householder schemes. 

 
LPAs have a requirement to deal with majors within 13 weeks from the date of 
receipt and 8 weeks for all other planning applications, unless an extension of 
time is agreed with the applicant.  

 
3.3 The initial designation regime stated that LPAs achieving a determination of 

30% or under of major planning applications within 13 weeks are at risk of 
being designated as under-performing.  This has increased over the years to 
40% in 2014 and 50% in 2015.  The threshold for the quality of major decisions 
was 20%.  Spelthorne has consistently exceeded these targets. 

 
3.4 In addition to the designation regime, LPAs are measured on their 

performance based on the % of planning applications they determine within 8 
or 13 weeks (or within an extension of time agreed with the applicant) as 
follows: 

 

Page 57



 
 

Majors – 60% within 13 weeks 
Minors – 65% within 8 weeks 
Others – 80% within 8 weeks 

 
3.5 In the year ending December 2019, Spelthorne met all three performance 

measures as follows: 
 
 
Table 1 
 

Majors Minors Others 
 

Total On 
Target 

% on 
Target 

(i.e. 
60%)  

Total On 
Target 

% on 
Target 

(i.e. 
65%) 

Total On 
Target 

% on 
Target 

(i.e. 80%) 
 

25 25 100% 199 175 88% 562 530 94% 
 

 
3.6 In addition to the above, Spelthorne LPA dealt with 566 other applications 

making a total of 1352 decisions.   
 
3.7 During the same year ending December 2019, the following decisions were 

made on other types of applications. 
 
 
Table 2  
 

Application Type Total No Determined 

Certificate of Lawful Development (Proposed) 157 

Certificate of Lawful Development (Existing) 14 

Prior Notifications 98 

Discharge of Conditions 115 

Amended Applications 34 

Consultations from adjoining Boroughs 22 

SCC Applications 12 

SCC Discharge of Conditions 5 

TPO Applications 79 

TCA Applications (Trees in Conservation Areas) 27 

Telecom applications 3 

TOTAL 566 

 
  

Page 58



3.8 In addition, the LPA dealt with: 
 

 35 Planning appeals,  
 8 Enforcement appeals, 
 351 Planning enquiries involving a written response and / or meetings  
 365 Planning enforcement cases 
 36 FOI Cases 
 

 
Current Designation Regime 
 
4.1 The Housing and Planning Act 2016 changed the designation regime to widen 

the definition of the applications to be included and to raise the bar on the 
thresholds LPAs would be required to meet with effect from 2017.  A paper 
detailing the implementation of this; Improving Planning Performance: Criteria 
for Designation, was issued in 2016. 

 
4.2 The performance of LPAs in determining major and non-major development 

are now assessed separately, meaning that an authority could be “designated” 
on the basis of its performance on major development, on non-major 
development, or both.  These two categories are assessed against two 
separate measures of performance:  

 

 The speed applications are dealt with measured by the proportion of 
applications that are determined within the statutory time or an agreed 
extended period; and,  

 

 The quality of decisions measured by the proportion of decisions on 
applications that are subsequently overturned at appeal  

 
4.3 Consequently, the performance of LPA’s are now assessed separately against:  
 

 The speed of determining applications for major development  
 

 The quality of decisions made by the authority on applications for major 
development;  

 

 The speed of determining applications for non-major development;  
 

 The quality of decisions made by the authority on applications for non-
major development.  

 
4.4 The Secretary of State will decide once a year whether any “designation” 

should be made or lifted.  If an LPA is at risk of designation for one or more 
categories, the DCLG will write to the LPAs requesting any data corrections or 
exceptional circumstances that would make a “designation” unreasonable.  
Where an authority is “designated”, applicants may apply directly to the 
Planning Inspectorate for the category of applications (major, non-major or 
both) for which the authority has been “designated”.  The exception is where 
an authority is designated for non-major development, householder 

Page 59



applications and retrospective applications.  Applicants will not be able to 
submit these applications to the Planning Inspectorate as these are best dealt 
with locally.  Soon after a designation is made the LPA is expected to prepare 
an “action plan” addressing areas of weakness that contributed to its under-
performance.  Appendix 1 contains a flow chart setting out the designation 
process. 

 
4.5 The following table provides an overview of the thresholds and assessment 

period for 2018 and 2019 and Spelthorne’s performance. 
 
 
Table 3  
 

Measure 
and type of 
Application  

 

2016-2018 
Threshold and 
assessment 
period 

Spelthorne’s 
Performance 

2017-2019 
Threshold and 
assessment 
period 
 

Spelthorne’s 
Performance 

Speed of 
major 
Development  
 

60%  
(October 2016 
to September 
2018)  
 

89% 60%  
(October 2017 
to September 
2019)  
 

96% 

Quality of 
major 
Development  
 

10%  
(April 2016 to 
March 2018)  
 

5.3% 10% 
(April 2017 to 
March 2019)  
 

3.7% 

Speed of non-
major 
Development  
 

70%  
(October 2016 
to September 
2018)  
 

88% 70% 
(October 2017 
to September 
2019)  
 

93% 

Quality of 
non-major 
Development  
 

10%  
(April 2016 to 
March 2018)  
 

1.07% 10% 
(April 2016 to 
March 2018)  
 

0.6% 

 
It can be seen that Spelthorne has met and exceeded all four targets for the 
threshold periods. 

 
 

Planning Appeals Decisions 
 
4.6 The assessment of the quality of decision making by LPA’s is measured by the 

proportion of decisions on applications that are subsequently overturned at 
appeal.  The current assessment for 2019 is based on planning applications 
decided between April 2017 to March 2019.  The statistics allow for a period of 
9 months elapsing following the end of the assessment period to allow time for 
an appeal to be lodged and decided.   

 

Page 60



4.7 The appeals relating to Spelthorne for the period in question are attached as 
Appendix 2.  Also attached as Appendix 3, are the appeal decisions relating to 
enforcement cases although it should be noted that these are not currently 
used to measure the Council’s performance.  In summary: 

 
There were 72 appeal decisions   
64 planning appeals and   
8 enforcement appeals.   
 
Of these appeals: 
 

 48 planning appeals were dismissed or had a split decision 

 Planning Enforcement were dismissed or had a split decision 

 16 planning appeals were allowed, and 

 2 Planning Enforcement appeals were allowed.    
 

The appeal performance overall for 2019 is 75% dismissed or split which 
represents a small improvement on 2018 when the figure was 69%. 

 
Planning Committee Overturns 

 
4.8 Between November 2016 to December 2019 nine planning applications were 

overturned by the Planning Committee.  Of these nine: 
 

 Six were allowed on appeal,  

 Two appeals had costs awarded against the Council 

 One was appealed against and subsequently withdrawn following the approval 
of a revised scheme 

 One appeal was dismissed (but partial award of costs against the Council) 

 One application was approved (based on a decision that very special 
circumstances existed to justify development within the Green Belt). 
 

These are summarised in the following table: 
 
 
Table 4 
 
Planning 
Applicati

on no. 
 

Site Proposal Officer 
Rec 

 
 

Committee  
Decision 

 
 

Appeal 
Decision 
and Date 

 

16/01593/
HOU 

19 Clifford 
Grove 
Ashford 
 

Erection of an outbuilding 
(retrospective) 

Approve Refused 
 
17/11/16 

Allowed on 
appeal 
13/02/19 
 

16/00972/
FUL 

Former 
Brooklands 
College 
Church Road 
Ashford 
 

366 dwellings, Commercial 
and D1 floorspace, open 
space, parking 

Approve Refused 
 
13/02/17 

Appeal 
withdrawn 
 
17/01274/FUL 
approved on 
20/12/17 
 

Page 61



Planning 
Applicati

on no. 
 

Site Proposal Officer 
Rec 

 
 

Committee  
Decision 

 
 

Appeal 
Decision 
and Date 

 

16/01349/
FUL 

Land to west 
of 26/28 
Peregrine 
Road & 181 
Nursery Road 
Sunbury 

Erection of a detached two-
storey building for the 
purposes of special needs 
housing (Use Class C2) 
together with associated 
entrance gates, access, 
parking and landscaping. 
 

Refuse Approved N/A 

17/00130/
HOU 

104 Avondale 
Avenue 
Staines-upon-
Thames 
 

Erection of an outbuilding 
(retrospective) 
 

Approve Refused 
 
08/03/17 

Allowed on 
appeal 
23/06/17 

16/01357/
FUL 

Former 
London Irish 
Rugby 
Football Club 
The Avenue 
Sunbury On 
Thames 

Replacement of 4 no. 
detached 5 bedroom 
dwellings (approved) with 
24 flats 

Approve Refused  
 
05/04/18 

Appeal 
allowed. 
Partial award 
of costs 
against the 
Council 
given. 
 

18/00432/
T56 

Grass Verge 
opposite the 
Parade at 
Junction of 
Vicarage Road 
Sunbury On 
Thames 
 

Installation of a 17.5m 
Shrouded High Jupiter 
Street Pole and associated 
equipment 

Approve Refused 
18/05/18 

Allowed on 
appeal 
28/05/19 

18/01426/
RVC 

Halliford 
Studios 
Limited 
Manygate 
Lane 
Shepperton 
 

Variation of planning 
permission 17/01065/FUL 
for 24 dwellings, to allow a 
fence in lieu of a wall on 
two boundaries. 
 

Approve Refused 
17/12/18 

Allowed on 
appeal 
22/03/19 

17/01938/
FUL 

20 Bridge 
Street 
Staines 
 

Erection of a five storey 
building of 9 flats 

Approve Refused  
01/06/18 

Appeal 
dismissed  
31/05/19 
 
Partial award 
of costs 
against the 
Council –. 
 

19/00444/
ADV 

Charlton Lane 
Ecopark 
Charlton Lane 
Shepperton 
 

Retention of freestanding 
6.52m tall non-illuminated 
sign at entrance 
(retrospective) 

Grant Refused 
30/05/19 

Allowed on 
appeal 
15/11/19 

 
 
  

Page 62



Government Papers and Ministerial Statements 
 
4.9 In the Planning DM performance report to Committee in December 2017, 

reference was made to three DCLG documents which had been recently 
published and which may have a bearing on the way DM performance is 
assessed.  In addition, Planning DM was referenced in the budget statement 
on 22 November 2017.  The first of the documents, Improving Planning 
Performance: Criteria for Designation (Revised 2016) is referenced above.   

 
4.10 The other two papers referred to in the previous Planning DM report; the White 

Paper, Fixing our Broken Housing Market (February 2017) and Planning for 
the Right Homes in the Right Places (Consultation Proposals (September 
2017), aimed at boosting housing supply by increasing densities in urban 
areas and increasing the speed of delivery.  These documents have been 
encapsulated within the revised NPPF which was re-issued in February 2019.  
At the heart of the NPPF is a presumption in favour of sustainable 
development. 

 
4.11 In the Planning DM performance report last year, reference was made to the 

2018-19 Local Government Finance Settlement Technical Consultation Paper 
(September 2017) which placed a greater emphasis on linking housing delivery 
with financial rewards or penalties.  This matter has not been finalised in the 
2019-20 consultation paper and Members will be updated on this in due 
course. 

 

 
5 Implications, Risks and Actions for Spelthorne 

 
5.1 The LPA has met and exceeded the speed targets for both major and non-

major developments in the 2019 assessment period.  Officers will continue to 
work hard to ensure these targets are met in the future.   

 
5.2 The LPA has also met the quality targets for both major and non-major 

developments.  However, the quality of major development is a target which 
officers are monitoring very closely because of the relatively few number of 
major applications the Council receives.  There is a real risk of performance, in 
terms of major applications, exceeding the new 10% threshold.  In the two year 
period April 2017 to March 2019, the Council determined 54 major planning 
applications, four of which were appealed against and two were allowed.  Two 
appeals allowed out of 54 applications equates to a quality performance of 
3.7%.  However, a further three appeals dismissed would bring the 
performance closer to the designation threshold of 10% at 9.3%.  Continuous 
monitoring against this criterion is essential.   

 
5.3 When refusing a planning application, it is imperative that the Council has 

sound reasons that are capable of being defended successfully at appeal.  
Failure to do so could expose the Council to the real risk of “designation”.  The 
rigorous defence of appeals will continue to require appropriate resources.   

 

Page 63



5.4 An up to date plan gives greater certainty to all those involved in the 
development process and the local community.  The consultation period on the 
preferred options (Regulation 18) has recently closed on the revised local plan.  
The consultation on the publication of the local plan (Regulation 19) is 
presently scheduled for later this year. Planning decisions based on an up to 
date plan and supplementary guidance which is consistent with the NPPF, are 
more easily defended at appeal.  This in turn ensures that the risk of 
designation based on appeal decisions is minimised. 

 
5.5 DM Officers will continue to closely monitoring committee overturns, although 

the number of these has been relatively small.  As indicated in table 4 above, 
there have been nine applications overturned and refused by the Planning 
Committee in the last 2+years, six of these were allowed on appeal, and costs 
were awarded against the Council on two of these.  All Members have been 
reminded of the requirements of the Planning Code and in particular the “call 
in” procedure.  The guiding principle of a “call-in” is that there is a “wider public 
interest” in the application being considered by the Committee.  The Planning 
Code is currently in the process of being updated and has recently been 
discussed by the Members’ Code of Conduct Committee on 27 November 
2019.  An updated report is due to be considered by the same committee on 
30th January 2020.  Members will be updated on this matter. 

 
5.6 The DM Officers are working within a culture of continuous performance 

throughout the Development Management process.  Planning Development 
Management underwent a two week audit on its processes and procedures in 
May 2019 and the overall outcome was judged as “Effective”, the highest level.   

 
5.7 The DM Service uses Idox Uniform for its computer software to manage the 

planning application process.  It has invested in a software management 
package known as Idox Enterprise to act as a management tool for planning 
officers.  A large amount of work has been undertaken by Idox in the latter part 
of 2019.  This work has enabled officers to work towards an agile way of 
working, to reduce paper and better manage the application process.  More 
work is planned for the start of 2020 to further enhance the process and 
improve efficiency.  

 
5.8 It has always been essential for officers and members to undergo regular 

planning training, including legislative changes and this is on-going 
requirement.  At the time of writing this report, members will have undertaken 
twelve different training sessions since the May local elections.  Officers too 
have attended various training course as and when they arise as part of their 
continuous professional development. 

 
  

Page 64



6 Recommendation 
 
6.1 It is recommended that the Committee notes the contents of this report.  
 
 
 List of Appendices 
 

1. The Designation Process 
2. Planning Appeal Decisions for applications determined April 2017 – March 

2018 
3. Planning Enforcement Appeal Decisions for appeals determined to end 

December 2019. 
 

Page 65



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

   

   

Designation Process   
 

Appendix 1 

Page 67



Planning Appeal Decisions for Applications Determined April 2017 to March 2019  

 

APP – Approve 

REF – Refused 

 

APPLN NO ADDRESS PROPOSAL DATE 
DECN 

DATE 
LODGED 

DATE  
APPEAL 

DECN 

DECN TYPE 

17/00255/FUL 99 School Road 
Ashford 

Erection of rear dormer window. (Amended from 

Householder to Full Application). 

20/04/17 20/06/17 09/10/17 Dismissed 

17/00288/HOU 11 Springfield Grove 
Sunbury On Thames 
 

Erection of a first floor front extension 13/04/17 21/06/17 20/07/17 Allowed 

16/00959/FUL 5 Sunbury Court 
Island 
Sunbury On 
Thames 

Demolition of existing 
dwelling and erection 
of new 3 bed chalet 
style dwelling with first 
floor terrace and 
external staircase. 

03/04/17 22/06/17 26/09/17 Dismissed 

16/01357/FUL London Irish Rugby Football 
Club 
The Avenue 
Sunbury On Thames 

(Replacement of 4 no. detached 5 bedroom 

dwellings and) construction of 24 no. flatted 

residential units, parking, landscaping and 

associated works. 

05/04/17 14/07/17 03/11/17 Allowed 
Planning 

Committee 
Overturn 

17/00412/HOU Willowmead 
Dunally Park 
Shepperton 
TW17 8LJ 
 

Erection of a part two storey part single storey front 
extension. 

11/05/17 21/07/17 19/09/17 Allowed 

16/00370/COU Lookrite 
13 Broadway 
Kingston Road 
Staines-upon-Thames 

Change of use from hairdresser (class A1) and part 
of first floor flat (class C3) to a hot food takeaway 
(class A5) and external alterations including 
installation of extraction and ventilation equipment. 

07/04/17 25/07/17 27/10/17 Allowed 

17/00546/FUL 217 Staines Road West 
Sunbury On Thames 
 

Erection of 1 bed detached bungalow, with 
associated parking and amenity space. 
 

16/06/17 25/09/17 08/12/17 Dismissed 

17/00201/HOU 5 Upper Halliford Road 
Shepperton 
 

Creation of vehicle access 06/07/17 03/11/17 20/12/17 Dismissed 

17/00696/HOU 3 Corsair Road 
Stanwell 
 

Erection of single storey side extension. 26/07/17 24/10/17 06/12/17 Dismissed 

17/00976/HOU 19 Commercial Road 
Staines 

Erection of roof alterations to include two side facing 
dormers. 

14/08/17 09/11/19 20/12/17 Dismissed 

Appeal 
Allowed 

- 

Appeal 
Dismissed 

- 

P
age 68



APPLN NO ADDRESS PROPOSAL DATE 
DECN 

DATE 
LODGED 

DATE  
APPEAL 

DECN 

DECN TYPE 

 

17/01156/PDH 17 Hannibal Road 
Stanwell 

Single storey rear extension measuring 6 metres 
beyond the rear wall of the original dwellinghouse 
measuring a maximum height of 2.975 and a height 
to the eaves of 2.825 metres. 
 

22/08/17 15/02/18 22/03/18 Allowed 

17/00365/FUL Hamilton’s Pitch 
Sheep Walk 
Shepperton 

Retention of existing hardstanding, temporary 
standing of two residential caravans, associated 
vehicles and equipment, and tipping of top soil to 
enable landscaping. 
 

Non 
Determinati

on 

09/11/17 14/02/18 Dismissed 

17/00813/HOU Willow Hayne 
Pharaohs Island 
Shepperton 

Erection of a two storey side extension including 
veranda and associated terrace above, the erection 
of a single storey detached outbuilding, decking, 
swimming pool and associated works. 
 

26/07/17 15/02/18 27/03/18 Dismissed 

17/00752/FUL 243 Thames Side Erection of a detached two storey dwelling and 
associated wheelchair access (following division of 
plot). 
 

23/08/17 20/12/17 16/04/18 Dismissed 

17/00976/HOU 19 Commercial Road, Staines 
 

Erection of roof alterations to include two side facing 
dormers. 
 

14.08.17 09/11/2017 20.12.17 Dismissed 

17/00485/FUL 4 Ethel Road, Ashford 
 

Erection of a part single storey, part two storey rear 
extension and a first floor side extension over the 
existing garage. Conversion of the garage to 
habitable room and associated internal alterations to 
create 2 no. self-contained semi-detached dwellings. 

18.05.17 20/12/17 28/03/18 Allowed 

17/00463/FUL 55 Cherry Orchard 
Staines-upon-Thames 

Demolition of existing building, store and garage 
and the erection of a replacement three storey 
building comprising 4 no. 2 bed apartments, with car 
parking, amenity space and landscaping. 
 

22/06/17 02/11/17 05/02/18 Allowed 
Costs application 

by appellant 
refused 

 

17/01344/FUL Workshop adjacent 3 
Avondale Rd 
Ashford 

Erection of detached residential unit - studio flat with 

parking following demolition of existing workshop 

03/11/17 17/01/18 03/05/18 Dismissed 

P
age 69



APPLN NO ADDRESS PROPOSAL DATE 
DECN 

DATE 
LODGED 

DATE  
APPEAL 

DECN 

DECN TYPE 

17/01373/FUL 41 Ruggles Brise Road, 
Ashford 

Two storey side extension and a single storey rear 

extension and the sub-division of the dwelling to 

form 1 no. 3 bedroom dwelling and 1 no. 2 bedroom 

dwelling 

07/11/18 01/03/18 26/04/18 Dismissed 

17/00511/FUL Land adjacent 
24 Ashgrove Road 
Ashford 

Erection of single storey detached dwelling 1 no. 

bedroom and 1 parking space. 

11/07/17 17/12/17 03/05/18 Dismissed 

17/01175/FUL 49 Heathcroft Avenue 
Sunbury On Thames 

Retention of single storey 1 no. 1 bedroom detached 

dwelling, including the erection of single storey rear 

extension, and associated parking and amenity 

space. 

14/09/17 09/05/18 21/08/18 Dismissed 

17/01201/FUL 93 Village Way 
Ashford 

Erection of a 2-storey house with associated access, 

parking and amenity space following demolition of 

existing annexe. Alterations to existing house. 

25/09/17 22/01/18 23/03/18 Dismissed 

17/00997/FUL 218 Stanwell Road 
Ashford 

Subdivision of existing 4 no. bedroom dwelling into 1 

no. 1 bedroom dwelling and 1 no. 3 bedroom 

dwelling (including removal of conservatory). 

04/09/17 22/01/18 23/03/18 Dismissed 

17/01321/FUL 217 Staines Road West 
Sunbury On Thames 
 

Erection of 2 bed detached bungalow with 

associated parking and amenity space following 

demolition of existing garage. 

25/10/17 22/01/18 
 

19/10/17 Dismissed 

16/02113/FUL Halliford Studios Ltd. 
Manygate Lane 
Shepperton 

Redevelopment of the site to provide 28 residential 

units – flats and houses, 50 car parking spaces / 

garages, amenity space, landscaping and 

associated alterations. 

06/04/17 22/01/18 
 

15/05/18 Dismissed 

17/01545/FUL 101 Long Lane 
Stanwell 

Conversion of existing dwelling into pair of semi-

detached dwellings, demolition of existing ground 

floor element and garage & erection of two storey 

side extension. 

29/11/17 30/04/18 20/08/18 Dismissed 

17/01395/FUL Oakwood 
2 Ferry Lane 
Laleham 

Demolition of existing dwelling, erection of 2 no. 

detached two storey dwelling, parking & amenity 

space. 

27/10/17 01/03/18 09/05/18 Dismissed 

17/01374/HOU 18 Longford Avenue, 
Stanwell 

Roof extension including the raising of ridge height, 

hip to gable roof alterations and rear facing dormer 

to create accommodation in roof space with roof 

lights in front elevation. 

 

25/10/17 01/02/18 27/02/18 Dismissed 

17/01265/HOU 34 Guildford Street 
Staines-upon-Thames 

Construction of a roof extension changing the 

hipped roof end to a gable, the construction of a rear 

27/09/18 01/02/18 09/05/18 Dismissed 

P
age 70



APPLN NO ADDRESS PROPOSAL DATE 
DECN 

DATE 
LODGED 

DATE  
APPEAL 

DECN 

DECN TYPE 

 mansard extension, the addition of two roof lights in 

the front roof slope, the removal of the rear chimney 

stack and the construction of a part two storey, part 

single storey rear extension. 

 

17/01156/PDH 17 Hannibal Road 
Stanwell 

Single storey rear extension measuring 6 metres 

beyond the rear wall of the original dwellinghouse 

measuring a maximum height of 2.975 and a height 

to the eaves of 2.825 metres 

22/08/17 15/02/18 23/03/18 Allowed 

17/01898/FUL 18 Greeno Crescent, 
Shepperton 

Conversion of existing dwelling into 2 no. 1 bedroom 

self-contained flats, including the erection of a single 

storey rear extension. 

06/02/18 09/02/18 26/04/18 Dismissed 

17/01344/FUL 

 

Workshop Adjacent to 3 

Avondale Road, Ashford 

 

Erection of detached residential unit consisting of a 

studio flat with associated parking following 

demolition of existing workshop. 

16/10/17 17/01/18 03/05/18 Dismissed 

17/01758/HOU 34 Guildford Street, 
Staines-upon-Thames 

Construction of a roof extension changing the 

hipped roof to a gable end, the construction of a rear 

mansard dormer, the addition of two roof lights in 

the front roof slope, the removal of the rear chimney 

stack and the construction of a part two storey part 

single storey rear extension. 

09/01/18 08/05/18 06/12/18 Dismissed 

17/01483/FUL Manor Farm Cottage, 
126 Green Street, Sunbury On 
Thames 

Demolition of existing residential bungalow to be 

replaced with a 2.5 storey building providing 7 no 

apartments with communal parking and landscaping 

13/11/17 28/02/18 10/05/18 Dismissed 

17/01778/HOU 80 Edgell Road 
Staines-upon-Thames 

Single storey rear extension and roof alteration 

including side facing dormer to facilitate 

accommodation in roofspace 

16/01/18 10/05/18 12/06/18 Split Decision.  
Loft conversion 

with roof 
alterations and 

dormers 
dismissed.  

Single Storey 
rear extension 

allowed. 
 

17/01861/HOU 24 Darby Crescent, Sunbury 
On Thames 

Erection of a single storey side extension, loft 

conversion and extension to create a habitable first 

floor, including two dormers in the front and rear 

elevations, hip-to-gable alteration and the raising of 

the ridge, and alterations to openings in the northern 

flank elevation. 

06/02/18 03/07/18 15/08/18 Dismissed 

P
age 71



APPLN NO ADDRESS PROPOSAL DATE 
DECN 

DATE 
LODGED 

DATE  
APPEAL 

DECN 

DECN TYPE 

18/00025/HOU 

 

Cockaigne 
Sandhills Meadow 
Shepperton 
 

Conversion of roofspace at rear of property to form 

habitable accommodation to include a hip to gable 

extension and the installation of roof lights in the 

western roof slope. 

01/03/18 06/08/18 29/09/18 Dismissed 

18/00270/HOU 
 

Oakford 
Park Road 
Shepperton 
 

Erection of an including additional habitable 
accommodation in the roof space and a ground floor 
extension, installation of a dormer and southern 
gable (including balcony), roof extension including a 
western facing dormer, a ground floor extension and 
balcony in the western elevation, and decking at the 
southern elevation. 
 

17/04/18 06/08/18 
 

19/09/018 Dismissed 

16/01979/FUL 
 

50, 52 and 54 High Street 
Staines 
 

Erection of a roof extension to create three 
residential flats 

03/10/17 09/07/18 03/10/18 Allowed 

17/01322/FUL Sans Souci 
35 Hamhaugh Island 
Shepperton 
 

Erection of replacement dwelling following 
demolition of existing. 

10/10/17 11/06/18 05/10/18 Dismissed 

17/01175/FUL 49 Heathcroft Avenue, 
Sunbury-on-Thames 

Retention of single storey 1 bedroom detached 

dwelling, including erection of single storey rear 

extension. 

14/09/18 05/09/18 21/08/18 Dismissed 

18/00432/T56 Grass Verge Opposite the 
Parade at Junction of Vicarage 
Road 
Sunbury On Thames 
 

Installation of a 17.5m Shrouded High Jupiter Street 

Pole (Grey);  1 x 0.3 Microwave Dish;  3 x 

equipment cabinets (Green) and ancillary equipment 

18/05/18 21/02/19 28/05/19 Allowed Planning 
Committee 

overturn 

17/01126/FUL Beulah 
Penny Lane 
Shepperton 

Change of use of garages to a mixed use of 
garages and holiday accommodation. 

 

29/09/17 22/08/18 24/01/19 Dismissed 

17/01131/FUL 60 Penton Road 
Staines 

Erection of a two storey 4 no. bedroom detached 
dwelling following demolition of existing garage. 
 

27/11/17 28/08/18 16/01/19 Dismissed 

17/01837/FUL 83 Thames Side 
Staines 

Retrospective application for the retention of landing 
stage for boat mooring. 
 

24/01/18 28/08/19 23/01/19 Allowed 

17/01791/HOU 15 Park Road 
Stanwell 
 

Erection of vehicle crossover. 01/02/18 08/10/18 02/01/19 Dismissed 

17/01938/FUL 20 Bridge Street 
Staines 

Erection of a five storey building of 9 self-contained 
flats comprising 3 no. 1 bed flats, 5 no. 2 bed flats 
and 1 no. 3 bed flats 

01/06/18 12/10/18 31/05/19 Dismissed 
Committee 
Overturn. 
Partial costs 
awarded against 
the Council (for a 

P
age 72



APPLN NO ADDRESS PROPOSAL DATE 
DECN 

DATE 
LODGED 

DATE  
APPEAL 

DECN 

DECN TYPE 

reason which 
was added by the 
Planning 
Committee) 

 

18/00804/HOU 28 Hadrian Way 
Stanwell 
 

Part two storey part single storey side and rear 
extension. 

25/07/18 16/10/18 15/12/18 Dismissed 

18/00961/HOU Willow Hayne 
Pharaohs Island 
Shepperton 
 

two storey side extension and associated veranda 21/08/18 16/10/18 06/12/18 Dismissed 

18/00788/HOU 7 Squires Road 
Shepperton 
 

Part single, part two storey side/rear extension. 18/07/18 16/10/18 05/12/18 Dismissed 

18/00631/HOU Cheyne Cottage 
7 Oaks Road 
Stanwell 
 

Detached double garage. 29/06/18 18/10/18 21/12/18 Dismissed 

18/00472/FUL Land to rear of Grandera 
House, 
61 - 73 Staines Road West, 
Sunbury 
 

Erection of a two and three storey development to 
provide 3 no. two bedroom maisonettes and 2 no. 
one bedroom maisonettes 

07/06/18 23/11/18 22/02/19 Dismissed 

18/00625/ADV Two Rivers Retail Park, 
Mustard Mill Road, 
Staines 
 

Various adverts 03/07/18 26/11/18 08/02/19 Dismissed 

18/00019/COU Former Nursery Site rear of 37 
- 51 Hithermoor Road, 
Stanwell Moor 
 

Change of use of site from former nursery site to 
fencing manufacture and supply business 

27/02/18 18/01/19 13/03/19 Withdrawn 

18/01101/FUL 17 - 51 London Road 
Staines-upon-Thames 

Erection of six buildings to provide 474 dwellings 
and flexible commercial space at ground and first 
floors (Class A1, A2, A3, B1, D1 or D2) car parking, 
landscaping 
 

20/11/18 15/01/19 29/08/19 Withdrawn 

18/01426/RVC Halliford Studios Limited 
Manygate Lane 
Shepperton 
 

Variation of condition 2 of planning permission 
17/01065/FUL for 24 dwellings, to allow the brick 
wall along the Northern and Eastern boundaries to 
be replaced with 1.8 metre high close boarded fence 
topped with 300mm trellis, and a 2.1 metre high 
wall. 
 

17/12/18 
 

16/01/19 29/05/19 Allowed 
Planning 

Committee 
Overturn 

18/01494/HOU 29 Hawkewood Road 
Sunbury 

Conversion of bungalow to two storey dwelling with 
front and side extensions following demolition of 
existing side and rear conservatories. 

14/12/18 12/02/19 22/03/19 Allowed 

P
age 73



APPLN NO ADDRESS PROPOSAL DATE 
DECN 

DATE 
LODGED 

DATE  
APPEAL 

DECN 

DECN TYPE 

 

18/01168/PDH Sans Souci 
35 Hamhaugh Island 
Shepperton 
 

Prior approval notification for a single storey rear 
extension measuring 8 metres in depth beyond the 
rear wall of the original dwelling house with a 
maximum height of 4 metres and a height to the 
eaves of 3 metres 
 

18/09/18 19/02/19 17/05/19 Allowed 

18/00435/FUL Old Pumping Station 
Wheatsheaf Lane 
Staines 
 

Erection of 1 No. detached 3 No. bedroom dwelling 18/09/18 27/03/19 05/07/19 Dismissed 

18/01454/HOU 2 Courtfield Road Erection of a detached annexe (Following demolition 
of existing garage). 
 

10/12/18 11/04/19 28/05/19 Dismissed 

18/00432/T56 Grass Verge Opposite 
The Parade at Junction of 
Vicarage Rd, 
Sunbury On Thames 

Installation of a 17.5m Shrouded High Jupiter Street 
Pole (Grey); 1 x 0.3 Microwave Dish; 3 x equipment 
cabinets (Green) and ancillary equipment. 
 

03/05/18 21/02/19 28/05/19 Allowed 
Planning 

Committee 
overturn 

 

18/01106/RVC McDonalds 554 London Rd 
Ashford 

Variation of condition no. 21 of planning approval 
13/00451/FUL for the erection of a freestanding two 
storey restaurant with associated drive thru lane, 
parking and landscaping and installation of 
customer order display and canopy to allow the 
restaurant to open for 24 hours a day, seven days a 
week. 

 

27/09/18 
 

16/01/19 02/07/19 Allowed 

18/01372/FUL Land to the east of Moor Lane, 
Staines 
 

Erection of barn for agricultural use to house 
animals, erection of 2m boundary fence 

11/01/19 24/04/19 05/08/19 Dismissed 

18/01730/FUL 48 Feltham Road, 
Ashford 
 

Erection of a part single storey, part two storey side 
extension and subdivision of the plot to create an 
additional self-contained, one bedroom dwelling with 
associated parking and amenity space. 
 

07/02/19 24/04/19 02/08/19 Dismissed 

18/01236/FUL Land Adjacent 
31 Glebeland Gardens 
Shepperton 
TW17 9DH 
 

Erection of a two storey side extension to existing 
dwelling to create a one bedroom maisonettes. 

02/11/18 21/05/19 27/08/19 Dismissed 

18/00977/FUL Land at the rear of 137-139 
Laleham Road 
Staines 
 

Erection of a detached two storey, two bedroom 
dwelling with associated parking and amenity. 

11/10/18 30/05/19 14/08/19 Dismissed 

 

P
age 74



 

             Planning Enforcement Appeal Decisions April 2015 to December 2019 

 

 

Appeal 
Allowed 

- 

Appeal 
Dismissed 

- 

APPEAL NO ADDRESS BREACH DATE DECN DECN TYPE 

18/00295/ENF The Thorns, 
Long Lane, 
Stanwell 
 

Material change of use of the land comprising the use 
of the site for airport car parking. 

11/09/19 Appeal Dismissed 

18/00147/ENF 41 Nursery 
Road, 
Sunbury on 
Thames 
 

Construction of a carport and extension of existing 
front wall and installation of gates. 

02/09/19 Split Decision 

18/00147/ENF 41 Nursery 
Road, 
Sunbury on 
Thames 
 

Construction of a carport and extension of existing 
front wall. 

30/08/19 Appeal Dismissed 

17/00262/ENF The Orchard, 
Church 
Island, 
Staines-
upon-
Thames. 
 

Erection of a building on land without planning 
permission. 

30/08/19 Appeal Allowed 

18/00282/ENF Land south 
east of the 
Ranges, 
Chertsey 
Road, 
Shepperton 
 

Construction of a bund along the south boundary and 
east boundary of the land and construction of a close 
boarded wooden fence on the bunds to a height of 
approximately 2.2 metres from the top of the bunds on 
land within a flood plain and on Green Belt land. 

30/08/19 Appeal Allowed 

18/00102/ENF Land south 
east of the 
Ranges, 
Chertsey 
Road, 
Shepperton 
 

Construction of two brick walls with piers, at the 
access way, with the installation of metal entrance 
gates and close boarded fencing to southern 
boundary, on Green Belt land. 

30/08/19 Split decision (walls 

and gate to be 

removed.  Fence to 

remain) 

19/00029/ENF 22 
Willowbrook 
Road, 
Stanwell 
 

The unauthorised operational development of two 
partially rendered metal storage containers with a felt 
overhanging roof. 

02/12/19 Appeal Dismissed 

19/00029/ENF 22 
Willowbrook 
Road, 
Stanwell 
 

The unauthorised operational development of two 
partially rendered metal storage containers with a felt 
overhanging roof. 

02/12/19 Appeal Dismissed 

17/00136/ENF 49 Heathcroft 
Ave, Sunbury 
in Thames 
 

Erection of a single storey dwelling 21.08.18 Appeal Dismissed 

18/00013/ENF Heathrow 
Fencing, 
Gleneagles 
Close, 
Stanwell 
 

The material change of use of the Land from 
agricultural land to a timber and fencing builder’s 
merchants/business with associated storage of 
materials in connection with that use. 

29/06/2018 SPLIT decision 

17/00136/ENF 49 Heathcroft 
Avenue, 
Sunbury-on-
Thames 
 

The unauthorised erection of a single storey detached 
dwelling. 

21/08/2018 Appeal Dismissed 

17/00019/ENF Stanwell 
Farm 
Bedfont 
Road 
Stanwell 
Staines-
upon-
Thames 
TW19 7LY 

Appeal against serving of an enforcement notice for 
the making of a material change of use of the land 
comprising (1) the use of the site for airport car 
parking (2) lawful garden land laid with hardstanding 
and incorporated into the existing yard and (3) a 
boundary fence erected along the western end of the 
yard. 

30.10.2017 Appeal dismissed 

17/00016/HEA
R 

124 
Hawthorn 
Way 
Shepperton 

Appeal against serving of an Enforcement Notice for 
the unauthorised erection of a rear extension including 
balcony. 

06.07.2017 SPLIT - Appeal Part 
Allowed/Part 
Dismissed 

Page 75



 

             Planning Enforcement Appeal Decisions April 2015 to December 2019 

 

 

Appeal 
Allowed 

- 

Appeal 
Dismissed 

- 

 

17/00009/ENF 22 Thames 
Meadow 
Shepperton 
TW17 8LT 

Appeal against serving of an Enforcement Notice for 
the making of a material change of use of the land 
and mooring to a mixed use comprising (1) the 
continuous mooring of a boat for the purpose of 
permanent residential accommodation (2) the 
stationing of a caravan on the land for the purpose of 
human habitation, and (3) storage purposes including 
but not limited to the storage of motor vehicles, 
building materials and other paraphernalia. 
 

23.10.2017 Appeal Dismissed 

17/00001/ENF The Boatyard 
Clarks Wharf 
Thames 
Street 
Sunbury On 
Thames 
TW16 5QG 

Appeal against serving of an Enforcement Notice for 
the unauthorised development of boat/car store on the 
land without the benefit of planning permission. 

14.06.2017 Appeal Allowed 

16/00021/WR Bramble 
Farm, Land 
West Of 
Sheep Walk 
Sheep Walk 
Shepperton 
 

Appeal against serving of an Enforcement Notice for 
Unauthorised development on the land, in particular a 
metal framework, metal fence panels and gate 
constructed on previously erected and enforced 
against metal posts. 

21.03.2017 Appeal Dismissed 

16/00020/WR Open Field 
At Junction 
Of Chertsey 
Road And 
Sheep Walk 
Shepperton 

Appeal against serving of an Enforcement Notice for 
Unauthorised development on the land, in particular 
(a) Two large metal posts concreted into the ground 
close to the boundary with Sheep Walk, these were 
large RSJ type posts of a height, strength and 
distance apart to form and support a gate. (b) Surface 
material being scraped back for a distance of approx 
200 metres to a width of approx 5 metres, resulting in 
a wide flat surface commensurate with a prepared 
route for a roadway (c) the resultant vegetation, soils 
and other debris were piled to the sides of the scraped 
area. 
 

21.03.2017 Appeal Dismissed 

16/00019/ENF The 
Paddocks 
Rear Of 
237 - 245 
Hithermoor 
Road 
Stanwell 
Moor 
Staines-
upon-
Thames 
TW19 6AZ 

Appeal against serving of an Enforcement Notice for 
The unauthorised siting of a static mobile home for 
residential purposes. 

27.09.2017 Appeal Allowed 

16/00014/ENF 7 Bruce 
Avenue 
Shepperton 
TW17 9DP 
 

Appeal against serving of an Enforcement Notice for 
the unauthorised siting of a large shipping container 
situated at the front of the property. 

01.09.2016 Appeal Dismissed 

15/00053/ENF 72 Charles 
Road 
Laleham 
Staines-
upon-
Thames 
TW18 1JX 
 

Appeal against serving of an Enforcement Notice for 
Unauthorised use of an outbuilding in the rear garden 
of the dwellinghouse for primary living accommodation 

21.09.2016 Appeal Dismissed 

15/00049/ENF Satsun 
Park Road 
Shepperton 
TW17 9LL 
 

Appeal against serving of an Enforcement Notice for 
Erection of rear and side extension following 
demolition of toilet and shower building and use of the 
building as a permanent residential dwelling. 

23.08.2016 Appeal Dismissed 

15/00043/ENF Beulah 
Riverside 
Shepperton 

Appeal against serving of an Enforcement Notice for 
the change of use of the barn style garages from 
garage purposes into two residefor building at ground 
lebvelntial units without planning permission. 

15.07.2016 SPLIT - Appeal Part 
Allowed/Part 
Dismissed 

15/00039/ENF 33 School 
Road 

Appeal against serving of an enforcement notice for 
unauthorised use of an outbuilding in the rear garden 

30.03.2016 Appeal Dismissed 

Page 76



 

             Planning Enforcement Appeal Decisions April 2015 to December 2019 

 

 

Appeal 
Allowed 

- 

Appeal 
Dismissed 

- 

 

 

 

Ashford 
TW15 2BT 
 

to the west of the dwellinghouse for primary 
residential purposes. 

15/00030/ENF 40 Oaks 
Road 
Stanwell 
Staines-
upon-
Thames 
TW19 7LG 
 

Appeal against serving of an Enforcement Notice for 
Hip to gable roof alterations and dormer not built to 
approved plans 

31.03.2016 Appeal Dismissed 

15/00029/ENF 15 Sunbury 
Court Island 
Sunbury On 
Thames 
TW16 5PP 
 

Appeal against serving of an enforcement notice for 
the erection of a single storey outbuilding and the 
construction of associated raised decking surrounding 
this outbuilding. Retrospective planning permission 
15/00277/HOU was refused on 11 June 2015. 

11.04.2016 Appeal Dismissed 

15/00025/ENF 15 Sunbury 
Court Island 
Sunbury On 
Thames 
TW16 5PP  

Appeal against serving of an Enforcement Notice for 
the raising of an outbuilding (which had approved 
planning permission 08/00518/FUL to be at ground 
level) and the construction of associated raised 
decking surrounding this outbuilding. 

11.04.2016 SPLIT 

A and C dismissed 

B and D allowed 

15/00018/HEA
R 
14/00203/ENF?
? 

46 Thames 
Meadow 
Shepperton 
TW17 8LT 
 

Appeal against serving of an Enforcement Notice for 
Erection of a first floor, rear facing dormer without 
planning permission. 

02.02.2016 Appeal Dismissed 

15/00015/HEA
R 

7 Maxwell 
Road 
Ashford 
TW15 1RL 
 

Appeal against serving of an Enforcement Notice for 
the erection of a detached building in the side garden 
to the north of the dwellinghouse without planning 
permission. 

03.11.2015 Appeal Dismissed 

15/00011/ENF Haroldene 
Towpath 
Shepperton 

Appeal against serving of an Enforcement Notice for 
the carrying out on the land of building, engineering, 
mining or other operations at variance to planning 
permission 14/00878/FUL. 
 

18.11.2015 Appeal Dismissed 

Page 77



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	4 Application No. 19/01297/FUL - Headline House, Stanwell Road, Ashford, TW15 3QH
	Application No. 19/01297/FUL - Headline House, Stanwell Road, Ashford, TW15 3QH Officer report
	Application No. 19/01297/FUL - Headline House, Stanwell Road, Ashford, TW15 3QH Appendices
	Sheets
	0205 - PROPOSED SITE LAYOUT

	Headline House elevations.pdf
	Sheets
	0207 - PROPOSED ELEVATIONS




	5 Application No. 19/01676/FUL - The Fordbridge Centre, 91 Clarendon Road, Ashford, TW15 2QA
	Application No. 19/01676/FUL - The Fordbridge Centre, 91 Clarendon Road, Ashford, TW15 2QA Officer Report
	Application No. 19/01676/FUL - The Fordbridge Centre, 91 Clarendon Road, Ashford, TW15 2QA Appendices

	6 Development Management Performance
	Development Management Performance Appendices




